

BMJ Open

Psychological factors and DNA methylation of genes related to immune/inflammatory system markers: the Normative Aging Study

Journal:	<i>BMJ Open</i>
Manuscript ID:	bmjopen-2015-009790
Article Type:	Research
Date Submitted by the Author:	21-Aug-2015
Complete List of Authors:	Kim, Daniel; Northeastern University, Department of Health Sciences; Harvard School of Public Health, Department of Social and Behavioral Sciences Kubzansky, Laura; Harvard School of Public Health, Department of Social and Behavioral Sciences Baccarelli, Andrea; Harvard School of Public Health, Department of Environmental Health Sparrow, David; Boston University School of Medicine, Spiro III, Avron; Boston University School of Public Health, Department of Epidemiology Tarantini, Letizia; Università degli Studi di Milano and IRCCS MAggiore Policlinico Hospital, Center of Molecular and Genetic Epidemiology, Department of Environmental and Occupational Health Cantone, Laura; Università degli Studi di Milano and IRCCS Maggiore Hospital, Mangiagalli and Regina Elena Foundation, Department of Clinical and Community Sciences Vokonas, Pantel; Boston University School of Public Health, Department of Epidemiology Schwartz, Joel; Harvard School of Public Health, Environmental Health
Primary Subject Heading:	Public health
Secondary Subject Heading:	Epidemiology
Keywords:	psychological factors, methylation, Epidemiology < TROPICAL MEDICINE

SCHOLARONE™
Manuscripts

Psychological factors and DNA methylation of genes related to immune/inflammatory system markers: the Normative Aging Study

Daniel Kim,^{1-3,*} Laura D. Kubzansky,² Andrea Baccarelli,⁴ David Sparrow,⁵ Avron Spiro III,⁶ Letizia Tarantini,^{7,8} Laura Cantone,⁷ Pantel Vokonas,⁶ Joel Schwartz.^{4,9}

¹ Department of Health Sciences, Northeastern University, Boston, Massachusetts, United States of America

² Department of Social and Behavioral Sciences, Harvard School of Public Health, Boston, Massachusetts, United States of America

³ Department of Social and Behavioral Sciences, EHESP French School of Public Health, Rennes, France

⁴ Department of Environmental Health, Harvard School of Public Health, Boston, Massachusetts, United States of America

⁵ Boston University School of Medicine, Boston, Massachusetts, United States of America

⁶ Department of Epidemiology, Boston University School of Public Health, Boston, Massachusetts, United States of America

⁷ University of Milan, Milan, Italy

⁸ IRCCS Maggiore Policlinico Hospital, Milan, Italy

⁹ Department of Epidemiology, Harvard School of Public Health, Boston, Massachusetts, United States of America

*360 Huntington Avenue, Robinson Hall, Room 209D, Boston, Massachusetts, United States of America, 02115. E-mail: dkim@neu.edu

Total number of tables: 5

Abbreviated running title: Psychological factors and DNA methylation.

ABSTRACT

Objectives: Although psychological factors have been associated with chronic diseases such as coronary heart disease (CHD), the underlying pathways for these associations have yet to be elucidated. DNA methylation has been posited as a mechanism linking psychological factors to CHD risk. In a cohort of community-dwelling elderly men, we explored the associations between positive and negative psychological factors with DNA methylation in promoter regions of multiple genes involved in immune/inflammatory processes related to atherosclerosis.

Design: Prospective, cohort study.

Setting: Greater Boston, Massachusetts area.

Participants: Men participating in the Normative Aging Study cohort with psychological measures and DNA methylation measures, collected on one to four visits between 1999 and 2006 (mean age = 72.7 years at first visit).

Outcome measures: We examined anxiety, depression, hostility, and life satisfaction as predictors of leukocyte gene-specific DNA methylation. We estimated repeated measures linear mixed models, controlling for age, smoking, education, past history of heart disease, stroke or diabetes, % lymphocytes, % monocytes, and plasma folate.

Results: Psychological distress measured by anxiety, depression, and hostility was positively associated and happiness and life satisfaction were inversely associated with average Intercellular Adhesion Molecule-1 (*ICAM-1*) and coagulation factor III (*F3*) promoter methylation levels. There was some evidence that hostility was positively associated with toll-like receptor 2 (*TLR-2*) promoter methylation, and that life satisfaction was inversely associated with both *TLR-2* and inducible nitric oxide synthase (*iNOS*) promoter methylation. We observed less consistent and significant associations between psychological factors and average methylation for promoters of the genes for glucocorticoid receptor (*NR3C1*), interferon γ (*IFN-\gamma*), and interleukin 6 (*IL-6*).

Conclusions: These findings suggest that positive and negative psychological factors affect DNA methylation of selected genes involved in chronic immune/inflammatory processes and inflammation-related endothelial dysfunction. Such epigenetic changes may represent important biological pathways that mediate the effects of psychological factors on CHD.

Keywords: psychological factors, methylation, cell adhesion molecules, *ICAM-1*, *F3*, *TLR-2*, coronary heart disease, epidemiology.

Strengths and limitations of this study

- Strengths of our study include its novel examination of multiple psychological factors (both positive and negative) in relation to DNA methylation in promoter regions of multiple genes plausibly involved in chronic immune/inflammatory processes and inflammation-related endothelial dysfunction.
- We also used repeated measures, thereby improving precision of our estimates.
- A subset of CpG sites were examined for DNA methylation within a gene promoter region, and may not necessarily have been good proxies for the all CpGs within the same region.
- The study sample was limited to an elderly, primarily white male population, and associations of psychological factors with DNA methylation may be more salient in other population sub-groups.

INTRODUCTION

Although psychological factors and clinical disorders such as anxiety and depression have been linked to a wide variety of health and disease endpoints including coronary heart disease (CHD) in epidemiological studies,¹ the mechanisms that underlie the associations with CHD have yet to be fully elucidated. CHD has been increasingly characterized as a chronic inflammatory process involving such factors as intercellular adhesion molecules [i.e., Intercellular Adhesion Molecule-1 (*ICAM-1*), Vascular Cell Adhesion Molecule-1 (*VCAM-1*)] facilitating the transendothelial migration of inflammation-related cells into vascular tissues.²

DNA methylation has been posited to be an intermediary mechanism by which psychological factors influence CHD risk. DNA methylation is a reversible process corresponding to the addition of methyl groups at the 5' position of cytosine rings in CpG dinucleotides to produce 5-methylcytosine (5mC). Decreased methylation is associated with greater RNA transcription.³ These relatively stable epigenetic marks can modify gene expression for proteins shaping cellular signals, responses, and function. Such modifications may underlie the pathogenesis of major chronic diseases including CHD and cancer.⁴⁻⁶ In humans, lower global levels of blood DNA methylation have predicted higher risks of cardiovascular diseases,⁷ and alterations in the DNA methylation of specific genes have been linked to higher risks of CHD and cancer.^{8,9}

Recent experimental and epidemiological evidence suggests that social/psychological exposures may contribute to the methylation of selected genes/promoters, and may thereby influence gene expression relevant to disease risk factors.^{3,10-15} In rats, Weaver et al.³ found that low levels of maternal licking and grooming led to *higher* cytosine methylation in a glucocorticoid receptor (*NR3C1*) promoter region in the brain hippocampus of offspring. Such hypermethylation is linked to lower GR expression. Because *NR3C1* up-regulation induces negative feedback in the HPA axis,^{16,17} its hypothesized down-regulation with negative psychological exposures would potentially

1
2
3 generate pro-inflammatory stress responses. In humans, one study has reported associations
4
5 between higher anxiety and depressive symptom scores in prenatal women and higher methylation
6
7 of the *NR3CI* gene in newborn cord blood leukocytes and maternal blood leukocytes.¹⁰ A study of
8
9 younger to middle-aged adults found correlations between a history of childhood adversity with
10
11 higher leukocyte *NR3CI* gene promoter methylation, although no correlations for anxiety and
12
13 limited correlations for depression with *NR3CI* promoter methylation.¹⁸ Distinct methylation
14
15 patterns have been further observed in depressed versus not depressed individuals,¹¹ and lower job
16
17 seniority has been linked to higher global (*Alu* line) methylation and methylation in interferon
18
19 (*IFN*)- γ promoter regions.¹² Furthermore, individuals of low SES in early life with mothers who
20
21 expressed high warmth toward them were shown to exhibit less Toll-like receptor (TLR)-stimulated
22
23 production of interleukin-6 (IL-6);¹⁹ IL-6 is an inflammatory marker that is predicted by
24
25 psychosocial factors such as anxiety and depression, and is thought to be involved in the
26
27 pathogenesis of cardiovascular disease.²⁰ Overall, these studies suggest that aspects of the social
28
29 environment and mood disorders including anxiety and depression may induce epigenetic
30
31 effects.^{21,22} Plausibly, these epigenetic changes represent underlying common biological (e.g.,
32
33 immune, neuroendocrine) pathways for the putative effects of psychological factors on chronic
34
35 diseases including CHD.
36
37
38
39
40
41
42

43 In a cohort of community-dwelling elderly men in the United States, we explored the
44
45 associations between positive and negative psychological factors and DNA methylation in promoter
46
47 regions of multiple genes involved in chronic immune/inflammatory processes and inflammation-
48
49 related endothelial dysfunction. To our knowledge, this is the first study to examine a
50
51 comprehensive set of psychological factors in relation to epigenetic processes plausibly related to
52
53 CHD.
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study population. The Normative Aging Study (NAS) is a longitudinal study of aging established by the US Veterans Administration. The original cohort was recruited between 1961 and 1970, and consisted of 2,280 community-dwelling men from the greater Boston, Massachusetts area aged 21–80 years who were free of known chronic medical conditions at enrollment.²³ Every three to five years, study participants have undergone routine physical examinations and laboratory tests, and responded to surveys on medical history, lifestyle factors, and psychological factors.

The present study analyzed data on men participating in the NAS cohort with psychological measures and DNA methylation measures (average of 2.2 measures/individual), collected on between one to four visits between 1999 and 2006. During this time period, 765 study participants provided at least one whole blood sample that was used to measure DNA methylation. Because for some subjects the extracted DNA was not sufficient in quantity to conduct methylation assays for all genes and due to some assay failures, the total numbers of men in whom there were assays corresponding to promoter regions of different genes varied.²⁴

Outcome variables. The average and position-specific levels of methylation in promoter regions of seven genes [toll-like receptor 2 (*TLR-2*), coagulation factor III (*F3*), glucocorticoid receptor (*NR3C1*), intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (*ICAM-1*), interferon- γ (*IFN- γ*), interleukin 6 (*IL-6*), inducible nitric oxide synthase (*iNOS*)] were analyzed as outcomes in separate models.

These genes were selected based on past evidence for associations of: 1) proteins coded by these genes in animal and/or human studies of atherosclerosis or the pathophysiology of heart disease; 2) psychological factors with methylation of promoters of the genes; and 3) psychological factors with peripheral blood levels of the markers expressed by these genes. For instance, for the first selection criterion, both serum *ICAM-1* and *IL-6* levels have independently predicted CHD risk in prospective studies after controlling for demographic/socioeconomic and traditional CHD risk factors.^{25,26} In the

1
2
3 Introduction, we cited studies suggesting linkages between psychological exposures and the
4 methylation of *NR3C1* and *IFN- γ* promoters, which in turn might explain chronic inflammatory
5 processes characterizing diseases such as CHD. As an example for the third selection criterion,
6
7 lower early-life socioeconomic status (SES) has been linked to greater expression of both *NR3C1*
8 and *TLR* receptor mRNA in leukocytes.²⁷
9

10
11
12
13
14
15 DNA was extracted from stored frozen buffy coat of 7 mL whole blood, using the QiAmp DNA
16 blood kits (QIAGEN, Hilden, Germany). 500 ng DNA (concentration 50 ng/ μ l) was treated using
17 EZ DNA Methylation-Gold™ Kit (Zymo Research, Orange, CA, USA) according to the manu-
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

DNA was extracted from stored frozen buffy coat of 7 mL whole blood, using the QiAmp DNA blood kits (QIAGEN, Hilden, Germany). 500 ng DNA (concentration 50 ng/ μ l) was treated using EZ DNA Methylation-Gold™ Kit (Zymo Research, Orange, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Final elution was performed with 30 μ l of M-Elution Buffer.

CpG dinucleotide-rich promoter regions were identified using the Genomatix Software Suite (Genomatix, Germany). Promoters without any assigned transcripts were excluded. To the best of our knowledge, there were no DNA methylation assays for the genes analyzed that were already published. Therefore, we developed new pyrosequencing assays by selecting amplicons in promoter CpG-rich areas. For each gene, the PCR-pyrosequencing primer (more than 20 base pairs long) of the highest available quality that was associated with one of the promoters was designed using specialized software (PSQ Assay Design, Biotage, Sweden). The fractions of CpG sites examined by gene were as follows: *TLR-2* (5/49); *F3* (5/78); *NR3C1* (1/7); *ICAM-1* (5/69); *IFN- γ* (2/8); *IL-6* (2/18); *iNOS* (2/8). We did not assay higher proportions of CpG sites due to inherent limitations of the method applied i.e., we excluded PCR amplicons with 350 or fewer base pairs, primers that avoided CpGs, and target sequences of 40 or fewer base pairs. We did not have additional information about the CpGs that were analyzed (e.g., for *NR1C3*), including their functionality or their proximity to transcription factor-binding sites or other important sequences. Supplementary Table 1 lists the specific CpG positions for DNA methylation that we measured within specified promoter regions for each gene.

1
2
3 The degree of methylation was calculated as the percentage of methylated cytosine residues
4 divided by the sum of methylated and unmethylated cytosine residues (%5mC) in each sample.
5
6 Built-in controls were used to verify bisulfite conversion efficiency. Each sample was tested twice
7
8 for each marker to improve statistical power and precision. The average of the replicates was used.
9

10
11 **Predictor variables.** We used data on anxiety and depression measured through the Brief
12 Symptom Inventory (BSI), a self-administered 53-item questionnaire of nine primary psychological
13 symptom dimensions (anxiety, depression, hostility, interpersonal sensitivity, obsessive-
14 compulsive, paranoid ideation, phobic anxiety, psychoticism, somatization) experienced by the
15 respondent over the previous 30 days; the BSI was included as part of the Health and Social
16 Behavior Survey in the NAS starting in 1985.^{23,28} Happiness (based on the single item “How happy
17 are you right now?”) and life satisfaction (based on the 11-item version of the Life Satisfaction
18 Inventory-A²⁹) were also examined as predictor variables. Higher life satisfaction scale scores
19 corresponded to higher self-reported life satisfaction; higher scores on the other scales reflected
20 higher negative psychological symptoms. All psychological measures were analyzed as continuous.
21 Internal consistency reliability (Cronbach’s α) values for the anxiety, depression, hostility, and life
22 satisfaction scales were all acceptably high (>0.70).
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39

40
41 **Covariates.** Model covariates consisted of the age at first visit in or after 1999 (years), smoking
42 (pack-years of smoking), education (>high school, \leq high school), history of CHD or stroke prior to
43 1999, history of diabetes prior to 1999, % lymphocytes, % monocytes, and plasma folate levels.
44 Previous evidence suggests that leukocyte composition is related to DNA methylation,³⁰ and that
45 folate is a source of methyl groups and folate depletion leads to lower blood DNA methylation.³¹
46 Because 98% of the sample was White, we did not adjust for race/ethnicity.
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54

55 **Statistical analysis.** We first calculated descriptive statistics (mean, range, percentages for
56 psychological factors and covariates, mean percentage methylation for gene-specific promoter
57
58
59
60

1
2
3 methylation) based on study participants with measures of ICAM-1 promoter region methylation,
4
5 which showed several significant associations.
6

7
8 We then constructed a Pearson correlation coefficient matrix for the psychological factors and a
9
10 correlation coefficient matrix for the methylation outcomes.

11
12 To examine the associations between the psychological factors and the methylation outcomes,
13
14 we next estimated repeated measures linear mixed models (equivalent to random intercept models)
15
16 to account for up to four repeated measures, using a first-order autoregressive covariance structure
17
18 (in which a decreasing correlation of standard errors over time was modeled). The log-likelihood fit
19
20 statistics for the models indicated better model fits than those for the corresponding models using a
21
22 compound symmetry covariance structure; unstructured covariance structure models did not
23
24 converge. Because we assumed a short latency period for methylation changes, we modeled each
25
26 psychological factor as a predictor of gene-specific methylation measured on the same visit
27
28 (averaged across cytosines in CpG sites within the promoter region, varying from one CpG site for
29
30 the *NR3C1* gene to five CpG sites for the *F3* gene according to the density of CpG sites in the
31
32 sequence amplified within the promoter region). In addition, we noted the associations between
33
34 selected covariates (age, smoking, income/education) and methylation.
35
36
37
38
39

40
41 For primary associations significant at the 5% level, we further tested for dose-response
42
43 relationships, by grouping the respective psychological factor into meaningful and/or equally-sized
44
45 categories where possible. A dose-response relationship would lend support to a casual
46
47 association.³² A linear test for trend was performed by converting the categories into an ordinal
48
49 variable and noting its corresponding p value.
50

51
52 We further examined the associations between psychological factors and serum ICAM-1, to
53
54 examine whether similar relationships were present as between the psychological factors and
55
56
57
58
59
60

1
2
3 ICAM-1 promoter methylation levels (because the latter would be expected to be inversely related
4
5 to ICAM-1 expression).
6

7
8 Finally, because of the known association between aging and methylation, we repeated the
9
10 analyses using age² as an additional covariate to saturate the model for an age effect and found
11
12 comparable results (data not shown).
13

14
15 All tests were two-tailed with a 5% significance level. All analyses were conducted using SAS
16
17 Version 9.1 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC).
18

19
20 All participants gave written informed consent. This research was approved by the human
21
22 subjects committees of the Boston VA Medical Center and the Harvard School of Public Health.
23
24

25 26 RESULTS

27
28 **Characteristics of study sample.** Table 1 shows descriptive characteristics of the study sample
29
30 based on 616 men with measures of ICAM-1 promoter region methylation. We present
31
32 characteristics for this sample because several of the corresponding associations with ICAM-1
33
34 methylation were significant among the different gene promoter regions analyzed. The sample had a
35
36 mean age of 72.5 years (range 56-100 years) at first visit. Approximately one-third (34.1%) attained
37
38 no more than high school education and over two-thirds had previously smoked, with an average of
39
40 21.8 pack-years of smoking (Table 1). These characteristics were similar to those of the larger
41
42 cohort of men with visits between 1999 and 2006 including men with missing observations for
43
44 methylation (n = 1,121 men: mean age 71.7 years, % with less than high school education = 35.9;
45
46 mean pack-years of smoking = 21.6). After listwise deletion of missing data in respective models,
47
48 the sizes of analytic samples ranged from 481 to 669 men. Missing gene-specific methylation data
49
50 ranged from 5.4% (*IFN- γ*) to 23.8% (*iNOS*), due to the presence of assay failures and the lack of
51
52 sufficient DNA, which disproportionately affected genes that were tested later in the order (i.e.,
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

1
2
3 *iNOS*, *ICAM-1*). Missing model covariate data ranged collectively from 3.1% to 3.5%. Missing
4
5 psychological factor data ranged from 3.7% (happiness) to 10.8% (life satisfaction) in the respective
6
7 model (Supplementary Table 2). Mean leukocyte methylation levels within promoter regions ranged
8
9 from 2.2% 5mC (*OGG* gene) to 84.8% 5mC (*IFN- γ* gene); none of the distributions was highly
10
11 skewed (Table 1).
12

13
14 Anxiety, depression, and hostility scale scores were significantly positively correlated with one
15
16 another, and were nearly all significantly inversely correlated with happiness and life satisfaction
17
18 scores (all $|r| > 0.3$ and $p < 0.01$; Table 2). By contrast, none of the methylation outcomes were
19
20 moderately to strongly correlated with one another (all $|r| < 0.3$; data not shown).
21
22

23
24 **Associations between psychological factors and average DNA methylation.** Table 3 shows
25
26 the multivariate-adjusted coefficient estimates from repeated measures models. Negative
27
28 psychological factors were related to higher average methylation in *ICAM-1* promoter regions (with
29
30 the associations for anxiety significant at the 0.10 level and for depression significant at the 0.05
31
32 level). Happiness was significantly inversely associated with *ICAM-1* promoter methylation.
33
34 Depression was significantly positively associated and happiness and life satisfaction were
35
36 significantly inversely associated with average methylation in *F3* promoter regions, respectively.
37
38 For *TLR-2* promoter methylation, all negative psychological factors showed positive relations (with
39
40 the association for hostility significant at the 0.10 level) and both positive psychological factors
41
42 showed inverse relations (with the association for life satisfaction significant at the 0.05 level). For
43
44 *iNOS* promoter methylation, all negative psychological factors showed inverse relations and both
45
46 positive psychological factors showed positive relations. However, only the association for life
47
48 satisfaction was significant at the 0.10 level. For *NR3C1* promoter methylation, depression,
49
50 hostility, happiness, and life satisfaction all exhibited positive and non-significant associations.
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

1
2
3 Likewise, psychological factors were inconsistently and non-significantly related to higher
4
5 methylation in the promoter regions for *IFN- γ* and *IL-6*.
6

7
8 For all associations significant at the 0.05 level, we further identified monotonic dose-response
9
10 relationships, with categories of higher scores of the psychological factors being associated with
11
12 stronger associations. Tables 4 and 5 show the coefficient estimates across categories as well as the
13
14 p values from the tests for linear trend across categories; these p values were significant at the 0.05
15
16 level for *F3* promoter methylation and at the 0.10 level for *ICAM-1* promoter region methylation,
17
18 respectively.
19

20
21 In all models, pack-years of smoking significantly predicted higher average methylation levels
22
23 in the gene-specific promoter regions. Age was non-significantly inversely associated with
24
25 methylation. Additional adjustment for household income (with lower income being non-
26
27 significantly positively associated with methylation) did not alter the main results (data not shown).
28

29
30 **Associations between psychological factors and serum ICAM-1.** No psychological factors
31
32 were associated with serum ICAM-1 levels (for anxiety: $\beta=5.11$, $p=0.51$; other psychological
33
34 factors exhibited similar associations). ICAM-1 methylation levels and serum ICAM-1 levels were
35
36 uncorrelated ($r = -0.04$).
37
38
39
40
41

42 DISCUSSION

43
44 In this study of community-dwelling elderly adult men, we found consistent associations between
45
46 both positive and negative psychological factors with higher average leukocyte DNA methylation in
47
48 *ICAM-1* promoter regions and in *F3* promoter regions. There was some evidence that hostility was
49
50 positively associated with *TLR-2* promoter methylation, and that life satisfaction was inversely
51
52 associated with both *TLR-2* and *iNOS* promoter methylation. We observed less consistent and
53
54 associated with both *TLR-2* and *iNOS* promoter methylation. We observed less consistent and
55
56
57
58
59
60

1
2
3 significant associations between psychological factors and average methylation for promoters of the
4
5 genes for *NR3C1*, *IFN- γ* , and *IL-6*.
6

7
8 Our main findings were generally robust across multiple Brief Symptom Inventory (BSI)
9
10 component scales. While this may stem from similarities across component scale measures, results
11
12 using very different scales (e.g., life satisfaction) were qualitatively consistent. Moreover, smoking
13
14 has been linked to pro-inflammatory states and atherosclerosis,³³ and the direction of the
15
16 associations for smoking with hypermethylation of *ICAM-1* promoter regions matched those for
17
18 negative psychological factors, providing support that the associations were not simply attributable
19
20 to chance. Our findings were furthermore robust to the adjustment of the presence of CHD, stroke,
21
22 and diabetes, countering underlying co-morbidities/health selection as alternative explanations for
23
24 the main findings.
25
26
27

28
29 Higher circulating levels of serum *ICAM-1* have been previously independently linked to
30
31 modest risks of CHD after adjusting for key covariates such as SES.³⁴⁻³⁶ Notably, we found no
32
33 association between psychological factors and serum *ICAM-1*. Along with the presence of
34
35 associations between psychological factors and *ICAM-1* promoter methylation, this could be
36
37 explained by the fact that serum *ICAM-1* is derived from multiple sources (vascular endothelium,
38
39 macrophages, lymphocytes), consistent with the absence of a correlation between leukocyte *ICAM-*
40
41 *I* methylation and serum *ICAM-1*. Past investigations of the Normative Aging Study have likewise
42
43 found no association between serum *ICAM-1* and global (*LINE-1*) leukocyte methylation levels.³⁷
44
45 Whether methylation of *ICAM-1* in white blood cells predicts serum *ICAM-1* levels derived solely
46
47 from white blood cells (vs. other sources), and whether this *ICAM-1* independently contributes to
48
49 higher risks of CHD should be explored in future studies.
50
51
52
53
54

55
56 Atherosclerosis is a chronic inflammatory process involving the infiltration of leukocytes and
57
58 smooth muscle cells into the extravascular space, mediated in part by adhesion molecules. *ICAM-1*
59
60

1
2
3 plays a pivotal role in the adhesion of leukocytes to the endothelium.³⁸⁻⁴⁰ Given evidence that
4
5 psychological factors are risk factors for atherosclerosis,¹ we propose two explanations for negative
6
7 psychological factors being linked to higher *ICAM-1* promoter region methylation in leukocytes.
8
9 The first posited mechanism is *competitive binding*. In rats, recombinant induction of higher serum
10
11 *ICAM-1* levels reduces leukocyte adhesion, plausibly by sterically inhibiting alternative *ICAM-1*
12
13 binding.⁴¹ *ICAM-1* is also known to compete with *ICAM-2* in their contributions to pro-
14
15 inflammatory environments. Low leukocyte membrane levels of *ICAM-1* resulting from higher
16
17 methylation of the *ICAM-1* promoter may contribute to decreased binding of leukocyte *ICAM-1* to
18
19 integrin receptors on the cell membranes of these leukocytes. Through competitive binding, lower
20
21 levels of leukocyte *ICAM-1* could thus facilitate vascular endothelial cell *ICAM-1* binding to
22
23 leukocytes. Higher methylation of leukocyte *ICAM-1* may then be associated with greater binding
24
25 of leukocytes to endothelial cells and their transmigration into extravascular tissues. The second
26
27 posited mechanism is *cellular signaling*, with *ICAM-1* being known to function via signal
28
29 transduction^{42,43} Low binding of leukocyte *ICAM-1* to its cell membrane integrins could trigger a
30
31 cascade of pro-inflammatory mediators and signal endothelial cells to release *ICAM-1*,^{40,44-46} and
32
33 could thereby stimulate *ICAM-1* leukocyte binding to vascular endothelial cells. Hence, through
34
35 signaling mechanisms, low leukocyte *ICAM-1* levels could induce leukocyte migration into vascular
36
37 endothelial tissues. Future biological studies (e.g., animal experiments which manipulate distress or
38
39 other exposures) should further investigate and test these two hypothesized pathways.
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47

48 Depression was positively associated and happiness and life satisfaction were each inversely
49
50 associated with higher *F3* promoter methylation in leukocytes (which in turn would be linked to
51
52 reduced leukocyte *F3* expression). Some evidence suggests that the major source of *F3* in arterial
53
54 thrombosis is the vascular wall rather than monocytes,⁴⁷ although monocyte *F3* also contributes to
55
56 inflammation and thrombosis. *F3*, also known as Tissue Factor, has been shown to be involved in
57
58
59
60

1
2
3 cellular signaling and inflammatory pathways.^{48,49} Like the hypothesis for *ICAM-1*, low leukocyte
4
5 *F3* levels via signaling pathways may promote inflammatory states through greater vascular *F3*
6
7 levels.
8

9
10 Furthermore, hostility was positively associated and life satisfaction was inversely associated
11
12 with higher *TLR-2* promoter methylation, which would imply lower *TLR-2* expression. These
13
14 findings appear contrary to the hypothesized role that *TLR-2* plays in atherosclerosis.^{50,51}
15
16 Nonetheless, there is some evidence to suggest that *TLR-2* promoter hypermethylation is present in
17
18 chronic inflammatory processes such as periodontitis.⁵² In addition, it has been suggested that the
19
20 inflammatory process itself may induce cytosine damage and aberrant methylation patterns,
21
22 including hypermethylation.⁵³ Furthermore, the association of negative psychological states such as
23
24 hostility with decreased expression of *TLR-2* may signify suppression of the immune system; this is
25
26 consistent with observed relationships between stress and immune suppression in other studies.⁵⁴
27
28
29
30

31 We found no associations between psychological factors and leukocyte *NR3C1* promoter
32
33 methylation. Previous studies in humans have yielded conflicting results. For example, an
34
35 investigation in prenatal women using clinically-administered (Hamilton Rating) scales of anxiety
36
37 and depression and a self-administered (Edinburgh Postnatal Depression) scale of depression
38
39 observed associations between higher maternal anxiety and depressive symptom scores and
40
41 methylation of CpGs within the promoter and exon 1F of the *NR3C1* gene (homologous to the 17
42
43 region of the rat *NR3C1* gene) in maternal blood leukocytes.¹⁰ A study of men and women aged 18-
44
45 59 reported correlations between a history of childhood adversity with higher leukocyte *NR3C1*
46
47 gene promoter methylation, yet found no correlations for anxiety (using the State-Trait Anxiety
48
49 Inventory) and only limited correlations for depression (using the Inventory for Depressive
50
51 Symptoms) with GR promoter methylation (at 0 of 13 CpG sites and 2 of 13 CpG sites,
52
53 respectively).¹⁸ Meanwhile, a recent brain post-mortem study in adults found no hippocampal GR
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

1
2
3 promoter methylation differences between those clinically diagnosed with major depression versus
4
5 controls.⁵⁵
6

7
8 Strengths of our study include its examination of multiple psychological factors (both positive
9
10 and negative) and its novel exploration of DNA methylation in promoter regions of multiple genes
11
12 plausibly involved in chronic immune/inflammatory processes and inflammation-related endothelial
13
14 dysfunction; its reliance on a community-based sample which strengthens generalizability of our
15
16 findings; and its use of repeated measures, thereby improving precision of our estimates. We further
17
18 tested for and confirmed linear dose-response relationships, which support the presence of causal
19
20 associations.
21
22

23
24 There were several limitations to our study. First, we examined DNA methylation at a subset of
25
26 CpG sites within a gene promoter region. The inability to assay high proportions given
27
28 methodological limitations could have led us to the omission of some relevant CpG sites. The
29
30 analyzed CpGs (selected based on aforementioned methodological limitations) may not necessarily
31
32 have been good proxies for the rest of the CpGs within the same regions. Second, differences in
33
34 results from previous studies, particularly for *NR3CI* methylation, might also stem from the
35
36 measurement of methylation in peripheral blood rather than hippocampal tissue; methylation effects
37
38 may be tissue specific.^{18,56} Third, due to the multiple associations examined, the multiple
39
40 comparisons problem, whereby multiple comparisons may increase the presence of significant
41
42 associations by chance, cannot be ruled out. Fourth, while the null associations for methylation in
43
44 promoter regions of several genes including *NR3CI*, *IFN-γ*, and *IL-6* could reflect the true absence
45
46 of associations, they could also possibly be attributed to selection bias due to attrition or missing
47
48 methylation data, as suggested by demographic (age, education) differences in those analyzed
49
50 versus the NAS cohort in 1985 when the BSI was first administered. For instance, those with a
51
52 stronger association between the psychological factors and methylation may have either died or
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

1
2
3 have been lost to follow-up, leading to attenuated and null associations in the analyzed data. With
4
5 respect to the varying sample sizes between analytic samples for genes examined, the mechanism of
6
7 missing data due to insufficient DNA and assay failures was plausibly missing completely at
8
9 random (MCAR), and entirely unrelated to the levels of methylation of a particular sequence of
10
11 DNA.²⁴ Under the MCAR mechanism, the listwise deletion method that we applied should be
12
13 valid.⁵⁷ In support of the MCAR assumption being met, we determined that those participants with
14
15 and without missing methylation data for each gene were generally comparable on demographic
16
17 characteristics (mean age, distribution of education), mean pack-years of smoking, and mean
18
19 anxiety and depression scores. Finally, the presence of null associations may in part be due to the
20
21 study sample being limited to an elderly, primarily white male population. Effects of psychological
22
23 factors on DNA methylation may be more salient in other population sub-groups, or at earlier,
24
25 sensitive time-points over the life-course. Future studies should extend examination of these
26
27 associations to younger adults, older women, and members of other racial/ethnic groups.
28
29
30
31
32

33
34 In summary, our study primarily suggests novel relations between positive and negative
35
36 psychological factors and methylation of ICAM-1 promoter regions and linkages with F3 gene
37
38 methylation, and to a lesser extent associations with *TLR-2* promoter methylation. Confirming these
39
40 findings in other populations and settings may yield a better understanding of the epigenetic
41
42 mechanisms by which psychological factors influence CHD and other major chronic disease
43
44 outcomes.
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

Contributorship Statement

DK, LDK, and JS conceived and designed the study. AB, DS, AS, LT, LC, PV, and JS gathered data. DK performed all data analyses, and drafted the manuscript. DK, LDK, AB, and JS revised the manuscript for important intellectual content.

Competing Interests

There are no competing interests.

Funding

This research was supported by the National Institutes of Health (ES05257-06A1, ES014663, ES15172, ES00002, P20-MD000501, R01 ES07821, P42-ES05947, R01-AG02237, R29-AG07465, R01-AG08436) and the National Center for Research Resources General Clinical Research Centers program (M01RR02635); by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (R832416); by the Cooperative Studies Program/ERIC of the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, and is a component of the Massachusetts Veterans Epidemiology Research and Information Center (MAVERIC); and by a VA Research Career Scientist award to David Sparrow. Daniel Kim was supported by a career development Pathway to Independence Award through the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute of the National Institutes of Health (grant R00 HL089459); Andrea Baccarelli is supported by National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences grant ES000002.

Data Sharing Statement

Data are from the Normative Aging Study, whose restricted data are available for researchers who meet the criteria.

REFERENCES

1. Kuper H, Marmot M, Hemingway H. (2002) Systematic review of prospective cohort studies of psychosocial factors in the etiology and prognosis of coronary heart disease. *Semin Vasc Med* 2:267-314.
2. Malik I, Danesh J, Whincup P, Bhatia V, Papacosta O, et al. (2001) Soluble adhesion molecules and prediction of coronary heart disease: a prospective study and meta-analysis. *Lancet* 358:971-5.
3. Weaver ICG, Cervoni N, Champagne FA, D'Alessio AC, Sharma S, et al. (2004) Epigenetic programming by maternal behavior. *Nature Neurosci* 7:847-54.
4. Gluckman PD, Hanson MA, Buklijas T, Low FM, Beedle AS. (2009) Epigenetic mechanisms that underpin metabolic and cardiovascular diseases. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* 5(7):401-8.
5. Fraga MF, Esteller M. (2007) Epigenetics and aging: the targets and the marks. *Trends Genet* 23:413-8.
6. Turunen MP, Aavik E, Yla-Herttuala S. (2009) Epigenetics and atherosclerosis. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1790:886-91.
7. Baccarelli A, Wright R, Bollati V, Litonjua A, Zanobetti A, et al. (2010) Ischemic heart disease and stroke in relation to blood DNA methylation. *Epidemiol* 21(6):819-28.
8. Baccarelli A, Rienstra M, Benjamin EJ. (2010) Cardiovascular epigenetics: basic concepts and results from animal and human studies. *Circulation: Cardiovasc Genet* 3:567-73.
9. Kulis M, Esteller M. (2010) DNA methylation and cancer. *Adv Genet* 70:27-56.
10. Oberlander TF, Weinberg J, Papsdorf M, Grunau R, Misri S, Devlin. (2008) Prenatal exposure to maternal depression, neonatal methylation of human glucocorticoid receptor gene (NR3C1) and infant cortisol stress responses. *Epigenetics* 3:97-106.

- 1
2
3 11. Uddin M, Koenen KC, Aiello AE, Wildman DE, de Los Santos R, Galea S. (2010) Epigenetic
4 and inflammatory marker profiles associated with depression in a community-based
5 epidemiologic sample. *Psychol Med* 14:1-11.
6
7
- 8
9
10 12. Bollati V, Baccarelli A, Sartori S, Tarantini L, Motta V, Rota F, Costa G. (2010) Epigenetic
11 effects of shiftwork on blood DNA methylation. *Chronobiol Int* 27(5):1093-104.
12
13
- 14 13. Uddin M, Aiello AE, Wildman DE, Koenen KC, Pawelec G, et al. (2010) Epigenetic and
15 immune function profiles associated with posttraumatic stress disorder. *PNAS* 107:9470-75.
16
17
- 18 14. McGowan PO, Sasaki A, D'Alessio AC, Dymov S, Labonté B, et al. (2009) Epigenetic
19 regulation of the glucocorticoid receptor in human brain associates with childhood abuse. *Nat*
20 *Neurosci* 12:342-8.
21
22
- 23 15. Beach SRH, Brody GH, Todorov AA, Gunter TD, Philibert RA. (2011) Methylation at 5HTT
24 mediates the impact of child sex abuse on women's antisocial behavior: an examination of the
25 Iowa Adoptee sample. *Psychosom Med* 73:83-87.
26
27
- 28 16. McQuade R, Young AHY. (2000) Future therapeutic targets in mood disorders: the
29 glucocorticoid receptor. *Br J Psychiatry* 177:390-5.
30
31
- 32 17. Yehuda R, Seckl J. (2011) Mini-review: Stress-related psychiatric disorders with low cortisol
33 levels: a metabolic hypothesis. *Endocrinology* 152:4496-503.
34
35
- 36 18. Tyrka AR, Price LH, Marsit C, Walters OC, Carpenter LL. (2012) Childhood adversity and
37 epigenetic modulation of the leukocyte glucocorticoid receptor: preliminary findings in healthy
38 adults. *PLoS ONE* 7:e30148.
39
40
- 41 19. Chen E, Miller GE, Kobor MS, Cole SW. (2011) Maternal warmth buffers the effects of low
42 early-life socioeconomic status on pro-inflammatory signaling in adulthood. *Mol Psychiatry*
43 16(7): 729–737.
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

- 1
2
3 20. Morozink JA, Friedman EM, Coe CL, Ryff CD. (2010) Socioeconomic and psychosocial
4 predictors of interleukin-6 in the MIDUS national sample. *Health Psychol.* 29(6): 626–635.
5
6
7 21. Szyf M, McGowan P, Meaney MJ. (2008) The social environment and the epigenome.
8 *Environment Molecular Mutagenesis* 49:46-60.
9
10 22. McGowan PO, Kato T. (2008) Epigenetics in mood disorders. *Environ Health Prev Med* 13:16-
11 24.
12
13 23. Rajan P, Kelsey KT, Schwartz JD, Bellinger DC, Weuve J, et al. (2007) Lead burden and
14 psychiatric symptoms and the modifying influence of the delta-aminolevulinic acid dehydratase
15 (ALAD) polymorphism: the VA Normative Aging Study. *Am J Epidemiol* 166:1400-08.
16
17 24. Alexeeff SE, Baccarelli AA, Halonen J, Coull BA, Wright RO, Tarantini L, Bollati V, Sparrow
18 D, Vokonas P, Schwartz J. (2013) Association between blood pressure and DNA methylation of
19 retrotransposons and pro-inflammatory genes. *Int J Epidemiol* 42:270-80.
20
21 25. Rodondi N, Marques-Vidal P, Butler J, Sutton-Tyrrell K, Cornuz J, et al. (2010) Markers of
22 atherosclerosis and inflammation for prediction of coronary heart disease. *Am J Epidemiol*
23 171:540-9.
24
25 26. Shai I, Pischon T, Hu FB, Ascherio A, Rifai N, Rimm EB. (2006) Soluble intercellular adhesion
26 molecules, soluble vascular cell adhesion molecules, and risk of coronary heart disease. *Obesity*
27 14:2099-2106.
28
29 27. Miller G, Chen E. (2007) Unfavorable socioeconomic conditions in early life presage
30 expression of proinflammatory phenotype in adolescence. *Psychosom Med* 69:402-9.
31
32 28. Derogatis LR, Melisaratos N. (1983) The Brief Symptom Inventory: an introductory report.
33 *Psychol Med* 13:595-605.
34
35 29. Liang, J. (1984) Dimensions of the life satisfaction index A: a structural formulation. *Journal of*
36 Gerontology 39:613–622.
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

- 1
2
3 30. Lam LL, Emberly E, Fraser HB, Neumann SM, Chen E, Miller GE, Kobor MS. (2012) Factors
4 underlying variable DNA methylation in a human community cohort. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*
5 109 Suppl 2:17253-60.
6
7
8
9
10 31. Rampersaud GC, Kauwell GP, Hutson AD, Cerda JJ, Bailey LB. (2000) Genomic DNA
11 methylation decreases in response to moderate folate depletion in elderly women. *Am J Clin*
12 *Nutr* 72:998-1003.
13
14
15
16
17 32. Hill AB. (1965) The environment and disease: Association or causation? *Proceed Roy Soc*
18 *Medicine – London*. 58:295-300.
19
20
21 33. Arnson Y, Shoenfeld Y, Amital H. (2010) Effects of tobacco smoke on immunity, inflammation
22 and autoimmunity. *J Autoimmun* 34:J258-65.
23
24
25
26 34. Hwang SJ, Ballantyne CM, Sharrett AR, Smith LC, Davis CE, et al. (1997) Circulating
27 adhesion molecules VCAM-1, ICAM-1 and E-selectin in carotid atherosclerosis and incident
28 coronary heart disease cases: the Atherosclerosis Risk In Communities (ARIC) study.
29 *Circulation* 96:4219-25.
30
31
32
33 35. Malik I, Danesh J, Whincup P, Bhatia V, Papacosta O, et al. (2001) Soluble adhesion molecules
34 and prediction of coronary heart disease: a prospective study and meta-analysis. *Lancet*
35 358(9286):971-6.
36
37
38 36. Ridker PM. (2001) Role of inflammatory biomarkers in prediction of coronary heart disease.
39 *Lancet* 358:946-8.
40
41
42
43 37. Baccarelli A, Tarantini L, Wright RO, Bollati V, Litonjua AA, et al. (2010) Repetitive element
44 DNA methylation and circulation endothelial and inflammation markers in the VA Normative
45 Aging Study. *Epigenetics* 5:222-8.
46
47
48
49 38. Blankenberg S, Barbaux S, Tiret L. (2003) Adhesion molecules and atherosclerosis.
50 *Atherosclerosis* 170(2):191-203.
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

- 1
2
3 39. Bielinski SJ, Pankow JS, Foster CL, Miller MB, Hopkins PN, et al. (2008) Circulating soluble
4
5 ICAM-1 levels shows linkage to ICAM gene cluster region on chromosome 19: the NHLBI
6
7 Family Heart Study follow-up examination. *Atherosclerosis* 199:172-8.
8
9
10 40. Rahman A, Fazal F. (2009) Hug tightly and say goodbye: role of endothelial ICAM-1 in
11
12 leukocyte transmigration. *Antioxidants Redox Signaling* 11:823-39.
13
14 41. Kusterer K, Bojunga J, Enghofer M, Heidenthal E, Usadel KH, et al. (1998) Soluble ICAM-1
15
16 reduces leukocyte adhesion to vascular endothelium in ischemia-reperfusion injury in mice. *Am*
17
18 *J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 275:G377-G380.
19
20
21 42. Lawson C, Wolf S. (2009) ICAM-1 signaling in endothelial cells. *Pharmacol Reports* 61:22–32.
22
23
24 43. Wittchen ES. (2009) Endothelial signaling in paracellular and transcellular leukocyte
25
26 transmigration. *Front Biosci* 14:2522–45.
27
28
29 44. Aplin AE, Howe AK, and Juliano RL. (1999) Cell adhesion molecules, signal transduction and
30
31 cell growth. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 11:737–744.
32
33
34 45. Hubbard AK and Rothlein R. (2000) Intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) expression
35
36 and cell signaling cascades. *Free Radic Biol Med* 28:1379–1386.
37
38
39 46. Wang Q and Doerschuk CM. (2002) The signaling pathways induced by neutrophil-endothelial
40
41 cell adhesion. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 4:39–47.
42
43
44 47. Day SM, Reeve JL, Pedersen B, Farris DM, Myers DD, et al. (2005) Macrovascular thrombosis
45
46 is driven by tissue factor derived primarily from the blood vessel wall. *Blood* 105:192-8.
47
48
49 48. Konigsberg W, Kirchhofer D, Riederer MA, Nemerson Y. (2001) The TF:VIIa complex:
50
51 clinical significance, structure-function relationships and its role in signaling and metastasis.
52
53 *Thromb Haemost* 86:757-71.
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

- 1
2
3 49. Jiang X, Bailly MA, Panetti TS, Cappello M, Konigsberg WH, Bromberg ME. (2004)
4
5 Formation of tissue factor–factor VIIa–factor Xa complex promotes cellular signaling and
6
7 migration of human breast cancer cells. *J Thrombosis Haemostasis* 2:93–101.
8
9
10 50. Curtiss LK, Tobias PS. (2009) Emerging role of Toll-like receptors in atherosclerosis. *J Lipid*
11
12 *Res* 50(S):S340-S345.
13
14 51. Cole JE, Georgiou E, Monaco C. (2010) The expression and functions of Toll-like receptors in
15
16 atherosclerosis. *Mediators Inflamm* 2010:393946.
17
18 52. de Faria Amormino SA, Arao TC, Saraiva AM, Gomez RS, Dutra WO, da Costa JE, Silva JFC,
19
20 Moreira PR. (2013) Hypermethylation and low transcription of TLR2 gene in chronic
21
22 periodontitis. *Human Immunol* 74:1231-1236.
23
24 53. Valinluck V, Sowers LC. (2007) Inflammation-mediated cytosine damage: A mechanistic link
25
26 between inflammation and the epigenetic alterations in human cancers. *Cancer Res*
27
28 67(12):5583-5586.
29
30 54. Cohen S. (2005) Keynote Presentation at the Eight International Congress of Behavioral
31
32 Medicine: the Pittsburgh common cold studies: psychosocial predictors of susceptibility to
33
34 respiratory infectious illness. *Int J Behav Med* 12(3):123-31.
35
36 55. Alt SR, Turner JD, Klok MD, Meijer OC, Lakke EAJF, et al. (2010) Differential expression of
37
38 glucocorticoid receptor transcripts in major depressive disorder is not epigenetically
39
40 programmed. *Psychoneuroendocrinol* 35:544-56.
41
42 56. Weaver ICG. (2007) Epigenetic programming by maternal behavior and pharmacological
43
44 intervention. *Epigenetics* 2:22-8.
45
46 57. Dong Y, Peng CYJ. (2013) Principled missing data methods for researchers. SpringerPlus
47
48 2:222.
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49

Table 1. Descriptive statistics (mean values with ranges in parentheses; percentages) for samples analyzed with respective characteristic and ICAM-1 promoter methylation (n ranging from 538 to 577 men)*

Mean age in yrs at first visit in 1999	72.5 (56-100)
% ≤High school	34.1
% White	98.0
% with CHD/stroke/diabetes	33.3
Smoking in pack-years	21.8 (0-131)
Anxiety	0.20 (0-2.83)
Depression	0.20 (0-3.33)
Hostility	0.21 (0-3.00)
Happiness	7.39 (1-9)
Life satisfaction	7.88 (0-11)
DNA methylation in gene promoter regions (%)	
<i>TLR-2</i>	3.1 (0-8.9)
<i>F3</i>	2.3 (0-14.8)
<i>NR3C1</i>	47.0 (14.7-72.8)
<i>ICAM-1</i>	4.4 (1.7-16.1)
<i>IFN-γ</i>	84.4 (30.9-95.7)
<i>IL-6</i>	43.7 (10.3-86.6)
<i>iNOS</i>	69.7 (24.5-87.2)

Table 2. Pearson correlation coefficients between psychological factors.*

	Anxiety	Depression	Hostility	Happiness	Life satisfaction
Anxiety	1.00	0.76 (n=611)	0.67 (n=611)	-0.32 (n=612)	-0.31 (n=578)
Depression		1.00	0.63 (n=609)	-0.46 (n=611)	-0.42 (n=577)
Hostility			1.00	-0.30 (n=610)	-0.28 (n=577)
Happiness				1.00	0.58 (n=598)
Life satisfaction					1.00

*For men with observations for methylation in ICAM-1 promoter regions.
P<0.01 for all correlations.

Table 3. Coefficient estimates (95% CI) for multivariate associations between psychological factors and average methylation in gene promoter regions, from repeated measures models.

	Gene						
	<i>TLR-2</i>	<i>F3</i>	<i>NR3C1</i>	<i>ICAM-1</i>	<i>IFN-γ</i>	<i>IL-6</i>	<i>iNOS</i>
Anxiety	0.07 (-0.17, 0.32) n=558; 833 obs	0.17 (-0.05, 0.40) n=607; 909 obs	-0.42 (-1.54, 0.71) n=581; 924 obs	0.34** (-0.03, 0.72) n=548; 831 obs	0.50 (-0.41, 1.40) n=640; 1069 obs	0.36 (-1.75, 2.47) n=636; 1077 obs	-0.82 (-2.28, 0.64) n=499; 729 obs
Depression	0.08 (-0.15, 0.30) n=554; 825 obs	0.34* (0.14, 0.55) n=605; 904 obs	0.22 (-0.76, 1.21) n=579; 919 obs	0.38* (0.04, 0.72) n=546; 826 obs	0.21 (-0.62, 1.04) n=638; 1064 obs	-0.12 (-2.07, 1.83) n=634; 1071 obs	-0.60 (-1.93, 0.73) n=496; 723 obs
Hostility	0.22** (-0.04, 0.49) n=554, 828 obs	0.18 (-0.06, 0.42) n=603; 905 obs	0.20 (-1.00, 1.40) n=578; 921 obs	0.20 (-0.19, 0.60) n=545; 828 obs	0.39 (-0.56, 1.34) n=636; 1066 obs	-0.54 (-2.74, 1.66) n=632; 1074 obs	-0.34 (-1.82, 1.14) n=497; 727 obs
Happiness	-0.02 (-0.09, 0.05) n=582; 867 obs	-0.10* (-0.16, -0.04) n=636; 952 obs	0.12 (-0.17, 0.41) n=608; 967 obs	-0.10* (-0.22, -0.003) n=577; 871 obs	0.04 (-0.20, 0.28) n=669; 1117 obs	-0.38 (-0.95, 0.19) n=666; 1128 obs	0.07 (-0.33, 0.47) n=523; 760 obs
Life Satisfaction	-0.05* (-0.09, -0.01) n=539; 808 obs	-0.06* (-0.10, -0.03) n=590; 885 obs	0.09 (-0.09, 0.26) n=563; 895 obs	-0.02 (-0.08, 0.04) n=538; 813 obs	-0.04 (-0.19, 0.10) n=619; 1036 obs	0.15 (-0.18, 0.49) n=615; 1045 obs	0.20** (-0.02, 0.43) n=481; 698 obs

Associations between each psychological factor and average levels of methylation across CpG sites within gene promoter regions examined in separate models. All models adjusted for age, smoking status, educational attainment, history of CHD or stroke prior to 1999, history of diabetes prior to 1999, % lymphocytes, % monocytes, and plasma folate.

*P<0.05. ** P<0.10.

Table 4. Coefficient estimates from repeated measures models for multivariate associations between categorized scale values of depression, happiness, life satisfaction and *F3* promoter methylation (n = 658 men, 988 observations).

		Coefficient Estimate	95% CI	P value
Depression	0	-	-	-
	0.01-0.4	-0.13	-0.34, 0.09	0.24
	>0.4	0.33	0.10, 0.56	0.005
				<i>P_{trend}</i> = 0.03
Happiness	1-4 (unhappy)	-	-	-
	5-7	-0.20	-0.54, 0.14	0.24
	8-9 (happy)	-0.51	-0.85, -0.18	0.003
				<i>P_{trend}</i> < .001
Life satisfaction	0-5	-	-	-
	6-8	-0.28	-0.49, -0.06	0.01
	9-11	-0.40	-0.60, -0.20	<0.001
				<i>P_{trend}</i> < .001

F3 methylation values corresponded to the average levels of methylation across CpG sites within the *F3* promoter region.

All models adjusted for age, smoking status, educational attainment, history of CHD or stroke prior to 1999, history of diabetes prior to 1999, % lymphocytes, % monocytes, and plasma folate.

Table 5. Coefficient estimates from repeated measures models for multivariate associations between categorized scale values of depression and happiness and *ICAM-1* promoter methylation (n = 600 men, 906 observations)

		Coefficient Estimate	95% CI	P value
Depression	0	-	-	-
	0.01-0.4	0.19	-0.16, 0.55	0.29
	>0.4	0.30	-0.09, 0.70	0.13
				$P_{trend} = 0.09$
Happiness	1-4 (not happy)	-	-	-
	5-7	-0.21	-0.76, 0.34	0.46
	8-9 (happy)	-0.42	-0.97, 0.13	0.13
				$P_{trend} = 0.06$

ICAM-1 methylation values corresponded to the average levels of methylation across CpG sites within the *ICAM-1* promoter region.

All models adjusted for age, smoking status, educational attainment, history of CHD or stroke prior to 1999, history of diabetes prior to 1999, % lymphocytes, % monocytes, and plasma folate.

Supplementary Table 1. Location of the CpG position and the promoter region for each gene.*

Gene	Chromosome	Promoter		CpG Positions for measured DNA methylation				
		Start	End	Position 1	Position 2	Position 3	Position 4	Position 5
<i>TLR-2</i>	4	154824391	154824991	154824709	154824713	154824715	154824723	154824727
<i>F3</i>	1	94779671	94780502	94779947	94779950	94779956	94779958	94779974
<i>NR3C1</i>	5	142760496	142761097	142760565				
<i>ICAM-1</i>	19	10242017	10242937	10242236	10242225	10242218		
<i>IFN-γ</i>	12	66839561	66840293	66840192	66840186			
<i>IL-6</i>	7	22732791	22733685	22733847	22733841			
<i>iNOS</i>	17	23149861	23150461	23149929	23149936			

*NCBI build 36.1 was used as the reference of the human genome in this study.

Supplementary Table 2. Numbers and percentages of missing men for methylation in the promoter region for each gene, for model covariates, and respective psychological factors (n = 765 men without excluding those with missing values).

Psychological Factor	<i>TLR-2</i>	<i>F3</i>	<i>NR3C1</i>	<i>ICAM-1</i>	<i>IFN-γ</i>	<i>IL-6</i>	<i>iNOS</i>
Anxiety	Missing methylation: n=123; 16.1%	Missing methylation: n=74; 9.7%	Missing methylation: n=100; 13.1%	Missing methylation: n=133; 17.4%	Missing methylation: n=41; 5.4%	Missing methylation: n=45; 5.9%	Missing methylation: n=182; 23.8%
	Missing covariates: n=26 (3.4%)	Missing covariates: n=26 (3.4%)	Missing covariates: n=26 (3.4%)	Missing covariates: n=26 (3.4%)	Missing covariates: n=26 (3.4%)	Missing covariates: n=26 (3.4%)	Missing covariates: n=26 (3.4%)
	Missing anxiety: n=58 (7.6%)	Missing anxiety: n=58 (7.6%)	Missing anxiety: n=58 (7.6%)	Missing anxiety: n=58 (7.6%)	Missing anxiety: n=58 (7.6%)	Missing anxiety: n=58 (7.6%)	Missing anxiety: n=58 (7.6%)
Depression	Missing methylation: n=125; 16.3%	Missing methylation: n=74; 9.7%	Missing methylation: n=100; 13.1%	Missing methylation: n=133; 17.4%	Missing methylation: n=41; 5.4%	Missing methylation: n=45; 5.9%	Missing methylation: n=183; 23.9%
	Missing covariates: n=27 (3.5%)	Missing covariates: n=27 (3.5%)	Missing covariates: n=27 (3.5%)	Missing covariates: n=27 (3.5%)	Missing covariates: n=27 (3.5%)	Missing covariates: n=27 (3.5%)	Missing covariates: n=27 (3.5%)
	Missing depression: n=59 (7.7%)	Missing depression: n=59 (7.7%)	Missing depression: n=59 (7.7%)	Missing depression: n=59 (7.7%)	Missing depression: n=59 (7.7%)	Missing depression: n=59 (7.7%)	Missing depression: n=59 (7.7%)
Hostility	Missing methylation: n=123; 16.1%	Missing methylation: n=74; 9.7%	Missing methylation: n=99; 12.9%	Missing methylation: n=132; 17.3%	Missing methylation: n=41; 5.4%	Missing methylation: n=45; 5.9%	Missing methylation: n=180; 23.5%
	Missing covariates:	Missing covariates:	Missing	Missing	Missing	Missing	Missing

	covariates: n=27 (3.5%)	n=27 (3.5%) Missing hostility: n=61 (8.0%)	covariates: n=27 (3.5%)	covariates: n=27 (3.5%)	covariates: n=27 (3.5%)	covariates: n=27 (3.5%)	covariates: n=27 (3.5%)
	Missing hostility: n=61 (8.0%)	Missing hostility: n=61 (8.0%)	Missing hostility: n=61 (8.0%)	Missing hostility: n=61 (8.0%)	Missing hostility: n=61 (8.0%)	Missing hostility: n=61 (8.0%)	Missing hostility: n=61 (8.0%)
Happiness	Missing methylation: n=128; 16.7%	Missing methylation: n=74; 9.7%	Missing methylation: n=102; 13.3%	Missing methylation: n=133; 17.4%	Missing methylation: n=41; 5.4%	Missing methylation: n=44; 5.8%	Missing methylation: n=187; 24.4%
	Missing covariates: n=27 (3.5%)	Missing covariates: n=27 (3.5%)	Missing covariates: n=27 (3.5%)	Missing covariates: n=27 (3.5%)	Missing covariates: n=27 (3.5%)	Missing covariates: n=27 (3.5%)	Missing covariates: n=27 (3.5%)
	Missing happiness: n=28 (3.7%)	Missing happiness: n=28 (3.7%)	Missing happiness: n=28 (3.7%)	Missing happiness: n=28 (3.7%)	Missing happiness: n=28 (3.7%)	Missing happiness: n=28 (3.7%)	Missing happiness: n=28 (3.7%)
Life satisfaction	Missing methylation: n=119; 15.6%	Missing methylation: n=68; 8.9%	Missing methylation: n=95; 12.4%	Missing methylation: n=120; 15.7%	Missing methylation: n=39; 5.1%	Missing methylation: n=43; 5.6%	Missing methylation: n=177; 23.1%
	Missing covariates: n=24 (3.1%)	Missing covariates: n=24 (3.1%)	Missing covariates: n=24 (3.1%)	Missing covariates: n=24 (3.1%)	Missing covariates: n=24 (3.1%)	Missing covariates: n=24 (3.1%)	Missing covariates: n=24 (3.1%)
	Missing life satisfaction: n=83 (10.8%)	Missing life satisfaction: n=83 (10.8%)	Missing life satisfaction: n=83 (10.8%)	Missing life satisfaction: n=83 (10.8%)	Missing life satisfaction: n=83 (10.8%)	Missing life satisfaction: n=83 (10.8%)	Missing life satisfaction: n=83 (10.8%)

STROBE Statement—checklist of items that should be included in reports of observational studies

	Item No	Recommendation
Title and abstract	1	(a) Indicate the study's design with a commonly used term in the title or the abstract (b) Provide in the abstract an informative and balanced summary of what was done and what was found
Introduction		
Background/rationale	2	Explain the scientific background and rationale for the investigation being reported
Objectives	3	State specific objectives, including any prespecified hypotheses
Methods		
Study design	4	Present key elements of study design early in the paper
Setting	5	Describe the setting, locations, and relevant dates, including periods of recruitment, exposure, follow-up, and data collection
Participants	6	(a) <i>Cohort study</i> —Give the eligibility criteria, and the sources and methods of selection of participants. Describe methods of follow-up <i>Case-control study</i> —Give the eligibility criteria, and the sources and methods of case ascertainment and control selection. Give the rationale for the choice of cases and controls <i>Cross-sectional study</i> —Give the eligibility criteria, and the sources and methods of selection of participants (b) <i>Cohort study</i> —For matched studies, give matching criteria and number of exposed and unexposed <i>Case-control study</i> —For matched studies, give matching criteria and the number of controls per case
Variables	7	Clearly define all outcomes, exposures, predictors, potential confounders, and effect modifiers. Give diagnostic criteria, if applicable
Data sources/ measurement	8*	For each variable of interest, give sources of data and details of methods of assessment (measurement). Describe comparability of assessment methods if there is more than one group
Bias	9	Describe any efforts to address potential sources of bias
Study size	10	Explain how the study size was arrived at
Quantitative variables	11	Explain how quantitative variables were handled in the analyses. If applicable, describe which groupings were chosen and why
Statistical methods	12	(a) Describe all statistical methods, including those used to control for confounding (b) Describe any methods used to examine subgroups and interactions (c) Explain how missing data were addressed (d) <i>Cohort study</i> —If applicable, explain how loss to follow-up was addressed <i>Case-control study</i> —If applicable, explain how matching of cases and controls was addressed <i>Cross-sectional study</i> —If applicable, describe analytical methods taking account of sampling strategy (e) Describe any sensitivity analyses

Continued on next page

Results		
Participants	13*	(a) Report numbers of individuals at each stage of study—eg numbers potentially eligible, examined for eligibility, confirmed eligible, included in the study, completing follow-up, and analysed (b) Give reasons for non-participation at each stage (c) Consider use of a flow diagram
Descriptive data	14*	(a) Give characteristics of study participants (eg demographic, clinical, social) and information on exposures and potential confounders (b) Indicate number of participants with missing data for each variable of interest (c) <i>Cohort study</i> —Summarise follow-up time (eg, average and total amount)
Outcome data	15*	<i>Cohort study</i> —Report numbers of outcome events or summary measures over time <i>Case-control study</i> —Report numbers in each exposure category, or summary measures of exposure <i>Cross-sectional study</i> —Report numbers of outcome events or summary measures
Main results	16	(a) Give unadjusted estimates and, if applicable, confounder-adjusted estimates and their precision (eg, 95% confidence interval). Make clear which confounders were adjusted for and why they were included (b) Report category boundaries when continuous variables were categorized (c) If relevant, consider translating estimates of relative risk into absolute risk for a meaningful time period
Other analyses	17	Report other analyses done—eg analyses of subgroups and interactions, and sensitivity analyses
Discussion		
Key results	18	Summarise key results with reference to study objectives
Limitations	19	Discuss limitations of the study, taking into account sources of potential bias or imprecision. Discuss both direction and magnitude of any potential bias
Interpretation	20	Give a cautious overall interpretation of results considering objectives, limitations, multiplicity of analyses, results from similar studies, and other relevant evidence
Generalisability	21	Discuss the generalisability (external validity) of the study results
Other information		
Funding	22	Give the source of funding and the role of the funders for the present study and, if applicable, for the original study on which the present article is based

*Give information separately for cases and controls in case-control studies and, if applicable, for exposed and unexposed groups in cohort and cross-sectional studies.

Note: An Explanation and Elaboration article discusses each checklist item and gives methodological background and published examples of transparent reporting. The STROBE checklist is best used in conjunction with this article (freely available on the Web sites of PLoS Medicine at <http://www.plosmedicine.org/>, Annals of Internal Medicine at <http://www.annals.org/>, and Epidemiology at <http://www.epidem.com/>). Information on the STROBE Initiative is available at www.strobe-statement.org.

BMJ Open

Psychological factors and DNA methylation of genes related to immune/inflammatory system markers: the VA Normative Aging Study

Journal:	<i>BMJ Open</i>
Manuscript ID	bmjopen-2015-009790.R1
Article Type:	Research
Date Submitted by the Author:	29-Oct-2015
Complete List of Authors:	Kim, Daniel; Northeastern University, Department of Health Sciences; Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health, Department of Social and Behavioral Sciences Kubzansky, Laura; Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health, Department of Social and Behavioral Sciences Baccarelli, Andrea; Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health, Department of Environmental Health Sparrow, David; Boston University School of Medicine, Spiro III, Avron; Boston University School of Public Health, Department of Epidemiology Tarantini, Letizia; Università degli Studi di Milano and IRCCS MAggiore Policlinico Hospital, Center of Molecular and Genetic Epidemiology, Department of Environmental and Occupational Health Cantone, Laura; Università degli Studi di Milano and IRCCS Maggiore Hospital, Mangiagalli and Regina Elena Foundation, Department of Clinical and Community Sciences Vokonas, Pantel; Boston University School of Public Health, Department of Epidemiology Schwartz, Joel; Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health, Department of Environmental Health
Primary Subject Heading:	Public health
Secondary Subject Heading:	Epidemiology
Keywords:	psychological factors, methylation, Epidemiology < TROPICAL MEDICINE

SCHOLARONE™
Manuscripts

Psychological factors and DNA methylation of genes related to immune/inflammatory system markers: the VA Normative Aging Study

Daniel Kim,^{1-3,*} Laura D. Kubzansky,² Andrea Baccarelli,⁴ David Sparrow,^{5,6} Avron Spiro III,⁶⁻⁸ Letizia Tarantini,^{9,10} Laura Cantone,⁹ Pantel Vokonas,^{6,7} Joel Schwartz.^{4,11}

¹ Department of Health Sciences, Northeastern University, Boston, Massachusetts, United States of America

² Department of Social and Behavioral Sciences, Harvard School of Public Health, Boston, Massachusetts, United States of America

³ Department of Social and Behavioral Sciences, EHESP French School of Public Health, Rennes, France

⁴ Department of Environmental Health, Harvard School of Public Health, Boston, Massachusetts, United States of America

⁵ Boston University School of Medicine, Boston, Massachusetts, United States of America

⁶ VA Normative Aging Study, VA Boston Healthcare System, Boston, Massachusetts, United States of America

⁷ Department of Epidemiology, Boston University School of Public Health, Boston, Massachusetts, United States of America

⁸ Department of Psychiatry, Boston University School of Medicine, Boston, Massachusetts, United States of America

⁹ University of Milan, Milan, Italy

¹⁰ IRCCS Maggiore Policlinico Hospital, Milan, Italy

¹¹ Department of Epidemiology, Harvard School of Public Health, Boston, Massachusetts, United States of America

*360 Huntington Avenue, Robinson Hall, Room 209D, Boston, Massachusetts, United States of America, 02115. E-mail: dkim@neu.edu

Total number of tables: 5

Abbreviated running title: Psychological factors and DNA methylation.

ABSTRACT

Objectives: Although psychological factors have been associated with chronic diseases such as coronary heart disease (CHD), the underlying pathways for these associations have yet to be elucidated. DNA methylation has been posited as a mechanism linking psychological factors to CHD risk. In a cohort of community-dwelling elderly men, we explored the associations between positive and negative psychological factors with DNA methylation in promoter regions of multiple genes involved in immune/inflammatory processes related to atherosclerosis.

Design: Prospective cohort study.

Setting: Greater Boston, Massachusetts area.

Participants: Samples of 538 to 669 men participating in the Normative Aging Study cohort with psychological measures and DNA methylation measures, collected on 1-4 visits between 1999 and 2006 (mean age = 72.7 years at first visit).

Outcome measures: We examined anxiety, depression, hostility, and life satisfaction as predictors of leukocyte gene-specific DNA methylation. We estimated repeated measures linear mixed models, controlling for age, smoking, education, history of heart disease, stroke or diabetes, % lymphocytes, % monocytes, and plasma folate.

Results: Psychological distress measured by anxiety, depression, and hostility was positively associated and happiness and life satisfaction were inversely associated with average Intercellular Adhesion Molecule-1 (*ICAM-1*) and coagulation factor III (*F3*) promoter methylation levels. There was some evidence that hostility was positively associated with toll-like receptor 2 (*TLR-2*) promoter methylation, and that life satisfaction was inversely associated with *TLR-2* and inducible nitric oxide synthase (*iNOS*) promoter methylation. We observed less consistent and significant associations between psychological factors and average methylation for promoters of the genes for glucocorticoid receptor (*NR3C1*), interferon γ (*IFN- γ*), and interleukin 6 (*IL-6*).

Conclusions: These findings suggest that positive and negative psychological factors affect DNA methylation of selected genes involved in chronic immune/inflammatory processes and inflammation-related endothelial dysfunction. Such epigenetic changes may represent biological pathways that mediate the effects of psychological factors on CHD.

Keywords: psychological factors, methylation, cell adhesion molecules, *ICAM-1*, *F3*, *TLR-2*, coronary heart disease, epidemiology.

Strengths and limitations of this study

- Strengths of our study include its novel examination of multiple psychological factors (both positive and negative) in relation to DNA methylation in promoter regions of multiple genes plausibly involved in chronic immune/inflammatory processes and inflammation-related endothelial dysfunction.
- We also used repeated measures, thereby improving precision of our estimates.
- A subset of CpG sites were examined for DNA methylation within a gene promoter region, and may not necessarily have been good proxies for the all CpGs within the same region.
- The study sample was limited to an elderly, primarily white male population, and associations of psychological factors with DNA methylation may be more salient in other population sub-groups.

INTRODUCTION

Although psychological factors and clinical disorders such as anxiety and depression have been linked to a wide variety of health and disease endpoints including coronary heart disease (CHD) in epidemiological studies,¹⁻³ the mechanisms that underlie the associations with CHD have yet to be fully elucidated. CHD has been increasingly characterized as a chronic inflammatory process involving such factors as intercellular adhesion molecules [i.e., Intercellular Adhesion Molecule-1 (*ICAM-1*), Vascular Cell Adhesion Molecule-1 (*VCAM-1*)] facilitating the transendothelial migration of inflammation-related cells into vascular tissues.⁴

DNA methylation may be an intermediary mechanism by which psychological factors influence CHD risk. DNA methylation is a reversible process corresponding to the addition of methyl groups at the 5' position of cytosine rings in CpG dinucleotides to produce 5-methyl-cytosine (5mC). DNA methylation is involved in regulation of gene expression and in several genes, lower methylation has been associated with increased mRNA expression.⁵ These relatively stable epigenetic marks can modify gene expression for proteins shaping cellular signals, responses, and function. Such modifications may underlie the pathogenesis of major chronic diseases including CHD and cancer.⁶⁻⁸ In humans, lower levels of blood LINE-1 DNA methylation have predicted higher risks of cardiovascular diseases,⁹ and alterations in the DNA methylation of specific genes have been linked to higher risks of CHD and cancer.^{10,11}

Recent experimental and epidemiological evidence suggests that social/psychological exposures may contribute to the methylation of selected genes/promoters, and may thereby influence gene expression relevant to disease risk factors.^{5,12-17} In rats, Weaver et al.⁵ found that low levels of maternal licking and grooming led to *higher* cytosine methylation in a glucocorticoid receptor (*NR3C1*) promoter region in the brain hippocampus of offspring. Such hypermethylation is linked to lower GR expression. Because *NR3C1* up-regulation induces negative feedback in the

1
2
3 hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis,^{18,19} its hypothesized down-regulation with negative
4
5 psychological exposures would potentially generate pro-inflammatory stress responses. In humans,
6
7 one study has reported associations between higher anxiety and depressive symptom scores in
8
9 prenatal women and higher methylation of the *NR3C1* gene in newborn cord blood leukocytes and
10
11 maternal blood leukocytes.¹² A study of younger to middle-aged adults found correlations between
12
13 a history of childhood adversity with higher leukocyte *NR3C1* gene promoter methylation, although
14
15 no correlations for anxiety and limited correlations for depression with *NR3C1* promoter
16
17 methylation.²⁰ Distinct methylation patterns have been further observed in depressed versus not
18
19 depressed individuals,¹³ and lower job seniority has been linked to higher global (*Alu* line)
20
21 methylation and methylation in interferon (IFN)- γ promoter regions.¹⁴ Furthermore, individuals of
22
23 low socioeconomic status (SES) in early life with mothers who expressed high warmth toward them
24
25 were shown to exhibit less Toll-like receptor (TLR)-stimulated production of interleukin-6 (IL-6);²¹
26
27 IL-6 is an inflammatory marker that is predicted by psychosocial factors such as anxiety and
28
29 depression, and is thought to be involved in the pathogenesis of cardiovascular disease.²² Overall,
30
31 these studies suggest that aspects of the social environment and mood disorders including anxiety
32
33 and depression may induce epigenetic effects.^{23,24} Plausibly, these epigenetic changes represent
34
35 underlying common biological (e.g., immune, neuroendocrine) pathways for the putative effects of
36
37 psychological factors on chronic diseases including CHD.

38
39
40 In a cohort of community-dwelling elderly men in the United States, we explored the
41
42 associations between positive and negative psychological factors and DNA methylation in promoter
43
44 regions of multiple genes involved in chronic immune/inflammatory processes and inflammation-
45
46 related endothelial dysfunction. These genes include the ones for the proteins noted above and for
47
48 *F3* (also known as Tissue Factor) and *iNOS*, that have been shown to be involved in chronic
49
50 inflammatory pathways and have been previously linked to chronic inflammatory conditions.²⁵⁻³⁰
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

1
2
3 To our knowledge, this is the first study to examine a comprehensive set of psychological
4 factors in relation to epigenetic processes plausibly related to CHD.
5
6
7
8
9

10 MATERIALS AND METHODS

11
12 **Study population.** The Normative Aging Study (NAS) is a longitudinal study of aging established
13 by the US Veterans Administration. The original cohort was recruited between 1961 and 1970, and
14 consisted of 2,280 community-dwelling men from the greater Boston, Massachusetts area aged 21–
15 80 years who were free of known chronic medical conditions at enrollment.³¹ Every three to five
16 years, study participants have undergone routine physical examinations and laboratory tests, and
17 responded to surveys on medical history, lifestyle factors, and psychological factors.
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

26
27 The present study analyzed data on men participating in the NAS cohort with psychological
28 measures and DNA methylation measures (average of 2.2 measures/individual), collected on
29 between one to four visits between 1999 and 2006. During this time period, 765 study participants
30 provided at least one whole blood sample that was used to measure DNA methylation. Because for
31 some subjects the extracted DNA was not sufficient in quantity to conduct methylation assays for
32 all genes and due to some assay failures, the total numbers of men in whom there were assays
33 corresponding to promoter regions of different genes varied.³²
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42

43 **Outcome variables.** The average and position-specific levels of methylation in promoter
44 regions of seven genes [toll-like receptor 2 (*TLR-2*), coagulation factor III (*F3*), glucocorticoid
45 receptor (*NR3C1*), intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (*ICAM-1*), interferon- γ (*IFN- γ*), interleukin 6
46 (*IL-6*), inducible nitric oxide synthase (*iNOS*)] were analyzed as outcomes in separate models.
47
48
49
50
51
52

53 These genes were selected based on past evidence for associations of: 1) proteins coded by these
54 genes in animal and/or human studies of atherosclerosis or the pathophysiology of heart disease; 2)
55 psychological factors with methylation of promoters of the genes; and 3) psychological factors with
56
57
58
59
60

1
2
3 peripheral blood levels of the markers expressed by these genes. For instance, for the first selection
4
5 criterion, both serum *ICAM-1* and *IL-6* levels have independently predicted CHD risk in prospective
6
7 studies after controlling for demographic/socioeconomic and traditional CHD risk factors.^{33,34} In the
8
9 Introduction, we cited studies suggesting linkages between psychological exposures and the
10
11 methylation of *NR3C1* and *IFN- γ* promoters, which in turn might explain chronic inflammatory
12
13 processes characterizing diseases such as CHD. As an example for the third selection criterion,
14
15 lower early-life socioeconomic status (SES) has been linked to greater expression of both *NR3C1*
16
17 and *TLR* receptor mRNA in leukocytes.³⁵

21
22 DNA was extracted from stored frozen buffy coat of 7 mL whole blood, using the QiAmp DNA
23
24 blood kits (QIAGEN, Hilden, Germany). 500 ng DNA (concentration 50 ng/ μ L) was treated using
25
26 EZ DNA Methylation-Gold™ Kit (Zymo Research, Orange, CA, USA) according to the manu-
27
28 facturer's protocol. Final elution was performed with 30 μ L of M-Elution Buffer.

31
32 CpG dinucleotide-rich promoter regions were identified using the Genomatix Software Suite
33
34 (Genomatix, Germany). Promoters without any assigned transcripts were excluded. To the best of
35
36 our knowledge, there were no DNA methylation assays for the genes analyzed that were already
37
38 published. Therefore, we developed new pyrosequencing assays by selecting amplicons in promoter
39
40 CpG-rich areas. For each gene, the PCR-pyrosequencing primer (more than 20 base pairs long) of
41
42 the highest available quality that was associated with one of the promoters was designed using
43
44 specialized software (PSQ Assay Design, Biotage, Sweden). The fractions of CpG sites examined
45
46 by gene were as follows: *TLR-2* (5/49); *F3* (5/78); *NR3C1* (1/7); *ICAM-1* (5/69); *IFN- γ* (2/8); *IL-6*
47
48 (2/18); *iNOS* (2/8). We did not assay higher proportions of CpG sites due to inherent limitations of
49
50 the method applied i.e., we excluded PCR amplicons with 350 base pairs or longer, primers that
51
52 avoided CpGs, and target sequences of 40 base pairs or longer, to optimize PCR and sequencing
53
54 conditions. Supplementary Table 1 lists the specific CpG positions for DNA methylation that we
55
56
57
58
59
60

1
2
3 measured within specified promoter regions for each gene. We had limited information about the
4
5 CpGs that were analyzed (e.g., for *NR3C1*), including their functionality or their proximity to
6
7 transcription factor-binding sites or other important sequences. Because genomic locations were for
8
9 the hg18 genome build, the majority of the CpGs that we examined were not assayed by the most
10
11 common methylation assays (i.e. either the 27K or 450K assays) that are available in public
12
13 datasets.
14

15
16
17 The degree of methylation was calculated as the percentage of methylated cytosine residues
18
19 divided by the sum of methylated and unmethylated cytosine residues (%5mC) in each sample.
20
21 Built-in controls were used to verify bisulfite conversion efficiency. Each sample was tested twice
22
23 for each marker to improve statistical power and precision. The average of the replicates was used.
24

25
26 **Predictor variables.** We used data on anxiety and depression measured through the Brief
27
28 Symptom Inventory (BSI), a self-administered 53-item questionnaire of nine primary psychological
29
30 symptom dimensions (anxiety, depression, hostility, interpersonal sensitivity, obsessive-
31
32 compulsive, paranoid ideation, phobic anxiety, psychoticism, somatization) experienced by the
33
34 respondent over the previous 30 days; the BSI was included as part of the Health and Social
35
36 Behavior Survey in the NAS starting in 1985.^{31,36} Happiness (based on the single item “How happy
37
38 are you right now?”) and life satisfaction (based on the 11-item version of the Life Satisfaction
39
40 Inventory-A³⁷) were also examined as predictor variables. Higher life satisfaction scale scores
41
42 corresponded to higher self-reported life satisfaction; higher scores on the other scales reflected
43
44 higher negative psychological symptoms. All psychological measures were analyzed as continuous.
45
46 Internal consistency reliability (Cronbach’s α) values for the anxiety, depression, hostility, and life
47
48 satisfaction scales were all acceptably high (>0.70).
49

50
51 **Covariates.** Model covariates consisted of the age at first visit in or after 1999 (years), smoking
52
53 (pack-years of smoking), education (>high school, \leq high school), history of CHD or stroke prior to
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

1
2
3 1999, history of diabetes prior to 1999, % basophils, % eosinophils, % lymphocytes, % monocytes,
4
5 % neutrophils, and plasma folate levels. Previous evidence suggests that leukocyte composition is
6
7 related to DNA methylation,³⁸ and that folate is a source of methyl groups and folate depletion leads
8
9 to lower blood DNA methylation.³⁹ Because 98% of the sample was White, we did not adjust for
10
11 race/ethnicity. In sensitivity analyses, we additionally controlled for baseline hypertension (i.e.,
12
13 hypertension prior to 1999) and total serum cholesterol.
14
15

16
17 **Statistical analysis.** We first calculated descriptive statistics (mean, range, percentages for
18
19 psychological factors and covariates, mean percentage methylation for gene-specific promoter
20
21 methylation) based on study participants with measures of ICAM-1 promoter region methylation,
22
23 which showed several significant associations.
24
25

26
27 We then constructed a Pearson correlation coefficient matrix for the psychological factors and a
28
29 correlation coefficient matrix for the methylation outcomes.
30

31
32 To examine the associations between the psychological factors and the methylation outcomes,
33
34 we next estimated repeated measures linear mixed models (equivalent to random intercept models)
35
36 to account for up to four repeated measures, using a first-order autoregressive covariance structure
37
38 (in which a decreasing correlation of standard errors over time was modeled). The log-likelihood fit
39
40 statistics for the models indicated better model fits than those for the corresponding models using a
41
42 compound symmetry covariance structure; unstructured covariance structure models did not
43
44 converge. Because we assumed a short latency period for methylation changes,⁴⁰⁻⁴³ we modeled
45
46 each psychological factor as a predictor of gene-specific methylation measured on the same visit
47
48 (averaged across cytosines in CpG sites within the promoter region, varying from one CpG site for
49
50 the *NR3C1* gene to five CpG sites for the *F3* gene according to the density of CpG sites in the
51
52 sequence amplified within the promoter region). In addition, we noted the associations between
53
54 selected covariates (age, smoking, income/education) and methylation.
55
56
57
58
59
60

1
2
3 For primary associations significant at the 5% level, we further tested for dose-response
4 relationships, by grouping the respective psychological factor into meaningful and/or equally-sized
5 categories where possible. A dose-response relationship would lend support to a casual
6 association.⁴⁴ A linear test for trend was performed by converting the categories into an ordinal
7 variable and noting its corresponding p value.
8
9

10
11 We further examined the associations between psychological factors and serum ICAM-1, to
12 examine whether similar relationships were present as between the psychological factors and
13 ICAM-1 promoter methylation levels (because the latter would be expected to be inversely related
14 to ICAM-1 expression).
15
16

17
18 Finally, because of the known association between aging and methylation, we repeated the
19 analyses using age² as an additional covariate to saturate the model for an age effect and found
20 comparable results (data not shown). Additional sensitivity analyses explored the robustness of the
21 findings after controlling for household income, baseline hypertension, and total serum cholesterol.
22
23

24 All tests were two-tailed with a 5% significance level. All analyses were conducted using SAS
25 Version 9.1 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC).
26
27

28 All participants gave written informed consent. This research was approved by the human
29 subjects committees of the Boston VA Medical Center and the Harvard School of Public Health.
30
31
32
33

34 RESULTS

35
36 **Characteristics of study sample.** Table 1 shows descriptive characteristics of the study sample
37 based on 616 men with measures of ICAM-1 promoter region methylation. We present
38 characteristics for this sample because several of the corresponding associations with ICAM-1
39 methylation were significant among the different gene promoter regions analyzed. The sample had a
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

1
2
3 mean age of 72.5 years (range 56-100 years) at first visit. Approximately one-third (34.1%) attained
4
5 no more than high school education and over two-thirds had previously smoked, with an average of
6
7 21.8 pack-years of smoking (Table 1). These characteristics were similar to those of the larger
8
9 cohort of men with visits between 1999 and 2006 including men with missing observations for
10
11 methylation (n = 1,121 men: mean age 71.7 years, % with less than high school education = 35.9;
12
13 mean pack-years of smoking = 21.6). After listwise deletion of missing data in respective models,
14
15 the sizes of analytic samples ranged from 481 to 669 men. Missing gene-specific methylation data
16
17 ranged from 5.4% (*IFN-γ*) to 23.8% (*iNOS*), due to the presence of assay failures and the lack of
18
19 sufficient DNA, which disproportionately affected genes that were tested later in the order (i.e.,
20
21 *iNOS*, *ICAM-1*). Missing model covariate data ranged collectively from 3.1% to 3.5%. Missing
22
23 psychological factor data ranged from 3.7% (happiness) to 10.8% (life satisfaction) in the respective
24
25 model (Supplementary Table 2). Mean leukocyte methylation levels within promoter regions ranged
26
27 from 2.2% 5mC (OGG gene) to 84.8% 5mC (*IFN-γ* gene); none of the distributions was highly
28
29 skewed (Table 1). Intra-individual changes in leukocyte methylation ranged from 1.4-2.4 times the
30
31 standard deviation across repeated measures.
32
33
34
35
36

37
38 Anxiety, depression, and hostility scale scores were significantly positively correlated with one
39
40 another, and were nearly all significantly inversely correlated with happiness and life satisfaction
41
42 scores (all $|r| > 0.3$ and $p < 0.01$; Table 2). By contrast, none of the methylation outcomes were
43
44 moderately to strongly correlated with one another (all $|r| < 0.3$; data not shown), suggesting that
45
46 these outcomes represented relatively independent events and processes.
47
48
49

50 **Associations between psychological factors and average DNA methylation.** Table 3 shows
51
52 the multivariate-adjusted coefficient estimates from repeated measures models. Negative
53
54 psychological factors were related to higher average methylation in *ICAM-1* promoter regions (with
55
56 the associations for anxiety significant at the 0.10 level and for depression significant at the 0.05
57
58
59
60

1
2
3 level). Happiness was significantly inversely associated with *ICAM-1* promoter methylation.
4
5 Depression was significantly positively associated and happiness and life satisfaction were
6
7 significantly inversely associated with average methylation in *F3* promoter regions, respectively.
8
9 For *TLR-2* promoter methylation, all negative psychological factors showed positive relations (with
10
11 the association for hostility significant at the 0.10 level) and both positive psychological factors
12
13 showed inverse relations (with the association for life satisfaction significant at the 0.05 level). For
14
15 *iNOS* promoter methylation, all negative psychological factors showed inverse relations and both
16
17 positive psychological factors showed positive relations. However, only the association for life
18
19 satisfaction was significant at the 0.10 level. For *NR3C1* promoter methylation, depression,
20
21 hostility, happiness, and life satisfaction all exhibited positive and non-significant associations.
22
23 Likewise, psychological factors were inconsistently and non-significantly related to higher
24
25 methylation in the promoter regions for *IFN- γ* and *IL-6*.
26
27
28
29
30

31 For all associations significant at the 0.05 level, we further identified monotonic dose-response
32
33 relationships, with categories of higher scores of the psychological factors being associated with
34
35 stronger associations. Tables 4 and 5 show the coefficient estimates across categories as well as the
36
37 p values from the tests for linear trend across categories; these p values were significant at the 0.05
38
39 level for *F3* promoter methylation and at the 0.10 level for *ICAM-1* promoter region methylation,
40
41 respectively.
42
43
44

45 In all models, pack-years of smoking significantly predicted higher average methylation levels
46
47 in the gene-specific promoter regions. Age was non-significantly inversely associated with
48
49 methylation. Additional adjustment for household income (with lower income being non-
50
51 significantly positively associated with methylation), baseline hypertension, and total serum
52
53 cholesterol did not alter the main results (data not shown).
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

1
2
3 **Associations between psychological factors and serum ICAM-1.** No psychological factors
4 were associated with serum ICAM-1 levels (for anxiety: $\beta=5.11$, $p=0.51$; other psychological
5 factors exhibited similar associations). ICAM-1 methylation levels and serum ICAM-1 levels were
6 uncorrelated ($r = -0.04$).
7
8
9

10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 33 34 35 36 37 38 39 40 41 42 43 44 45 46 47 48 49 50 51 52 53 54 55 56 57 58 59 60

DISCUSSION

In this study of community-dwelling elderly adult men, we found consistent associations between both positive and negative psychological factors with higher average leukocyte DNA methylation in *ICAM-1* promoter regions and in *F3* promoter regions. There was some evidence that hostility was positively associated with *TLR-2* promoter methylation, and that life satisfaction was inversely associated with both *TLR-2* and *iNOS* promoter methylation. We observed less consistent and significant associations between psychological factors and average methylation for promoters of the genes for *NR3C1*, *IFN- γ* , and *IL-6*.

Our main findings were generally robust across multiple Brief Symptom Inventory (BSI) component scales. While this may stem from similarities across component scale measures, results using very different scales (e.g., life satisfaction) were qualitatively consistent. Moreover, smoking has been linked to pro-inflammatory states and atherosclerosis,⁴⁵ and the direction of the associations for smoking with hypermethylation of *ICAM-1* promoter regions matched those for negative psychological factors, providing support that the associations were not simply attributable to chance. Our findings were furthermore robust to the adjustment of the presence of CHD, stroke, and diabetes, countering underlying co-morbidities/health selection as alternative explanations for the main findings.

Higher circulating levels of serum *ICAM-1* have been previously independently linked to modest risks of CHD after adjusting for key covariates such as SES.⁴⁶⁻⁴⁸ Notably, we found no

1
2
3 association between psychological factors and serum *ICAM-1*. Along with the presence of
4
5 associations between psychological factors and *ICAM-1* promoter methylation, this could be
6
7 explained by the fact that serum *ICAM-1* is derived from multiple sources (vascular endothelium,
8
9 macrophages, lymphocytes), consistent with the absence of a correlation between leukocyte *ICAM-*
10
11 *I* methylation and serum *ICAM-1*. Past investigations of the Normative Aging Study have likewise
12
13 found no association between serum *ICAM-1* and *LINE-1* leukocyte methylation levels.⁴⁹ Whether
14
15 methylation of *ICAM-1* in white blood cells predicts serum *ICAM-1* levels derived solely from
16
17 white blood cells (vs. other sources), and whether this *ICAM-1* independently contributes to higher
18
19 risks of CHD should be explored in future studies.
20
21
22
23

24 Atherosclerosis is a chronic inflammatory process involving the infiltration of leukocytes into
25
26 the extravascular space, mediated in part by adhesion molecules. Smooth muscle cells participate in
27
28 this process by expressing adhesion molecules such as vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (*VCAM-1*)
29
30 and intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (*ICAM-1*).⁵⁰ *ICAM-1* plays a pivotal role in the adhesion of
31
32 leukocytes to the endothelium.⁵¹⁻⁵³ Given evidence that psychological factors are risk factors for
33
34 atherosclerosis,¹ one possible explanation for negative psychological factors being linked to higher
35
36 *ICAM-1* promoter region methylation in leukocytes is *cellular signaling*, with *ICAM-1* being known
37
38 to function via signal transduction^{54,55} Low binding of leukocyte *ICAM-1* to its cell membrane
39
40 integrins could trigger a cascade of pro-inflammatory mediators and signal endothelial cells to
41
42 release *ICAM-1*,^{53,56-58} and could thereby stimulate *ICAM-1* leukocyte binding to vascular
43
44 endothelial cells. Hence, through signaling mechanisms, low leukocyte *ICAM-1* levels could induce
45
46 leukocyte migration into vascular endothelial tissues. Future biological studies (e.g., animal
47
48 experiments which manipulate distress or other exposures) should further investigate and test this
49
50 and other potential pathways.
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

1
2
3 Depression was positively associated and happiness and life satisfaction were each inversely
4 associated with higher *F3* promoter methylation in leukocytes (which in turn would be linked to
5 reduced leukocyte *F3* expression). Some evidence suggests that the major source of *F3* in arterial
6 thrombosis is the vascular wall rather than monocytes,²⁵ although monocyte *F3* also contributes to
7 inflammation and thrombosis. *F3*, also known as Tissue Factor, has been shown to be involved in
8 cellular signaling and inflammatory pathways.^{26,27} Like the hypothesis for *ICAM-1*, low leukocyte
9 *F3* levels via signaling pathways may promote inflammatory states through greater vascular *F3*
10 levels.
11
12

13
14 Furthermore, hostility was positively associated and life satisfaction was inversely associated
15 with higher *TLR-2* promoter methylation, which would imply lower *TLR-2* expression. These
16 findings appear contrary to the hypothesized role that *TLR-2* plays in atherosclerosis.^{28,29}
17 Nonetheless, there is some evidence to suggest that *TLR-2* promoter hypermethylation is present in
18 chronic inflammatory processes such as periodontitis.³⁰ In addition, it has been suggested that the
19 inflammatory process itself may induce cytosine damage and aberrant methylation patterns,
20 including hypermethylation.⁵⁹ Furthermore, the association of negative psychological states such as
21 hostility with decreased expression of *TLR-2* may signify suppression of the immune system; this is
22 consistent with observed relationships between stress and immune suppression in other studies.⁶⁰
23
24

25
26 We found no associations between psychological factors and leukocyte *NR3C1* promoter
27 methylation. Previous studies in humans have yielded conflicting results. For example, an
28 investigation in prenatal women using clinically-administered (Hamilton Rating) scales of anxiety
29 and depression and a self-administered (Edinburgh Postnatal Depression) scale of depression
30 observed associations between higher maternal anxiety and depressive symptom scores and
31 methylation of CpGs within the promoter and exon 1F of the *NR3C1* gene (homologous to the 17
32 region of the rat *NR3C1* gene) in maternal blood leukocytes.¹² A study of men and women aged 18-
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

1
2
3 59 reported correlations between a history of childhood adversity with higher leukocyte *NR3C1*
4 gene promoter methylation, yet found no correlations for anxiety (using the State-Trait Anxiety
5 Inventory) and only limited correlations for depression (using the Inventory for Depressive
6 Symptoms) with GR promoter methylation (at 0 of 13 CpG sites and 2 of 13 CpG sites,
7 respectively).²⁰ Meanwhile, a recent brain post-mortem study in adults found no hippocampal GR
8 promoter methylation differences between those clinically diagnosed with major depression versus
9 controls.⁶¹

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
Strengths of our study include its examination of multiple psychological factors (both positive
and negative) and its novel exploration of DNA methylation in promoter regions of multiple genes
plausibly involved in chronic immune/inflammatory processes and inflammation-related endothelial
dysfunction; and its reliance on a community-based sample which strengthens generalizability of
our findings. We further tested for and confirmed linear dose-response relationships, which support
the presence of causal associations.

There were several limitations to our study. First, we examined DNA methylation at a subset of
CpG sites within a gene promoter region. The inability to assay high proportions given
methodological limitations could have led us to the omission of some relevant CpG sites. The
analyzed CpGs (selected based on aforementioned methodological limitations) may not necessarily
have been good proxies for the rest of the CpGs within the same regions. Second, differences in
results from previous studies, particularly for *NR3C1* methylation, might also stem from the
measurement of methylation in peripheral blood rather than hippocampal tissue; methylation effects
may be tissue specific.^{20,62} Third, due to the multiple associations examined, the multiple
comparisons problem, whereby multiple comparisons may increase the presence of significant
associations by chance, cannot be ruled out. Fourth, while the null associations for methylation in
promoter regions of several genes including *NR3C1*, *IFN-γ*, and *IL-6* could reflect the true absence

1
2
3 of associations, they could also possibly be attributed to selection bias due to attrition or missing
4 methylation data, as suggested by demographic (age, education) differences in those analyzed
5 versus the NAS cohort in 1985 when the BSI was first administered. For instance, those with a
6 stronger association between the psychological factors and methylation may have either died or
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

of associations, they could also possibly be attributed to selection bias due to attrition or missing methylation data, as suggested by demographic (age, education) differences in those analyzed versus the NAS cohort in 1985 when the BSI was first administered. For instance, those with a stronger association between the psychological factors and methylation may have either died or have been lost to follow-up, leading to attenuated and null associations in the analyzed data. With respect to the varying sample sizes between analytic samples for genes examined, the mechanism of missing data due to insufficient DNA and assay failures was plausibly missing completely at random (MCAR), and entirely unrelated to the levels of methylation of a particular sequence of DNA.³² Under the MCAR mechanism, the listwise deletion method that we applied should be valid.⁶³ In support of the MCAR assumption being met, we determined that those participants with and without missing methylation data for each gene were generally comparable on demographic characteristics (mean age, distribution of education), mean pack-years of smoking, and mean anxiety and depression scores. Fifth, the NAS cohort does not currently have genome-wide association study (GWAS) data. Hence, we could not specifically evaluate the interplay between genetics and DNA methylation, and further studies are warranted. Sixth, we lacked measures of additional cell subtypes (e.g., B cells, T cells, and natural killer cells, as subtypes of lymphocytes), which may have biased our results through residual confounding. Finally, the presence of null associations may in part be due to the study sample being limited to an elderly, primarily white male population. Effects of psychological factors on DNA methylation may be more salient in other population sub-groups, or at earlier, sensitive time-points over the life-course. Future studies should extend examination of these associations to younger adults, older women, and members of other racial/ethnic groups.

In summary, our study primarily suggests novel relations between positive and negative psychological factors and methylation of ICAM-1 promoter regions and linkages with F3 gene

1
2
3 methylation, and to a lesser extent associations with *TLR-2* promoter methylation. Confirming these
4
5 findings in other populations and settings may yield a better understanding of the epigenetic
6
7 mechanisms by which psychological factors influence CHD and other major chronic disease
8
9 outcomes.
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

For peer review only

Contributorship Statement

DK, LDK, and JS conceived and designed the study. AB, DS, AS, LT, LC, PV, and JS gathered data. DK performed all data analyses, and drafted the manuscript. DK, LDK, AB, and JS revised the manuscript for important intellectual content.

Acknowledgements

We thank John Hutchinson from the Harvard T. H. Chan School of Public Health for technical assistance.

Competing Interests

There are no competing interests.

Funding

This research was supported by the National Institutes of Health (ES05257-06A1, ES014663, ES15172, ES00002, P20-MD000501, R01 ES07821, P42-ES05947, R01-AG02237, R29-AG07465, R01-AG08436) and the National Center for Research Resources General Clinical Research Centers program (M01RR02635); by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (R832416); by the Cooperative Studies Program/ERIC of the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, and is a component of the Massachusetts Veterans Epidemiology Research and Information Center (MAVERIC); and by a VA Research Career Scientist award to David Sparrow. Daniel Kim was supported by a career development Pathway to Independence Award through the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute of the National Institutes of Health (grant R00 HL089459); Andrea Baccarelli is supported by National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences grant ES000002.

Data Sharing Statement

Data are from the Normative Aging Study, whose restricted data are available for researchers who meet the criteria.

REFERENCES

1. Kuper H, Marmot M, Hemingway H. (2002) Systematic review of prospective cohort studies of psychosocial factors in the etiology and prognosis of coronary heart disease. *Semin Vasc Med* 2:267-314.
2. Roest AM, Martens EJ, de Jonge P, Denollet J. (2010) Anxiety and risk of incident coronary heart disease: a meta-analysis. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 56(1):38-46.
3. Gan Y, Gong Y, Tong X, Sun H, Cong Y, Dong X, Wang Y, Xu X, Yin X, Deng J, Li L, Cao S, Lu Z. (2014) Depression and the risk of coronary heart disease: a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *BMC Psychiatry* 14:371.
4. Malik I, Danesh J, Whincup P, Bhatia V, Papacosta O, et al. (2001) Soluble adhesion molecules and prediction of coronary heart disease: a prospective study and meta-analysis. *Lancet* 358:971-5.
5. Weaver ICG, Cervoni N, Champagne FA, D'Alessio AC, Sharma S, et al. (2004) Epigenetic programming by maternal behavior. *Nature Neurosci* 7:847-54.
6. Gluckman PD, Hanson MA, Buklijas T, Low FM, Beedle AS. (2009) Epigenetic mechanisms that underpin metabolic and cardiovascular diseases. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* 5(7):401-8.
7. Fraga MF, Esteller M. (2007) Epigenetics and aging: the targets and the marks. *Trends Genet* 23:413-8.
8. Turunen MP, Aavik E, Yla-Herttuala S. (2009) Epigenetics and atherosclerosis. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1790:886-91.
9. Baccarelli A, Wright R, Bollati V, Litonjua A, Zanobetti A, et al. (2010) Ischemic heart disease and stroke in relation to blood DNA methylation. *Epidemiol* 21(6):819-28.
10. Baccarelli A, Rienstra M, Benjamin EJ. (2010) Cardiovascular epigenetics: basic concepts and results from animal and human studies. *Circulation: Cardiovasc Genet* 3:567-73.

11. Kulis M, Esteller M. (2010) DNA methylation and cancer. *Adv Genet* 70:27-56.
12. Oberlander TF, Weinberg J, Papsdorf M, Grunau R, Misri S, Devlin. (2008) Prenatal exposure to maternal depression, neonatal methylation of human glucocorticoid receptor gene (NR3C1) and infant cortisol stress responses. *Epigenetics* 3:97-106.
13. Uddin M, Koenen KC, Aiello AE, Wildman DE, de Los Santos R, Galea S. (2010) Epigenetic and inflammatory marker profiles associated with depression in a community-based epidemiologic sample. *Psychol Med* 14:1-11.
14. Bollati V, Baccarelli A, Sartori S, Tarantini L, Motta V, Rota F, Costa G. (2010) Epigenetic effects of shiftwork on blood DNA methylation. *Chronobiol Int* 27(5):1093-104.
15. Uddin M, Aiello AE, Wildman DE, Koenen KC, Pawelec G, et al. (2010) Epigenetic and immune function profiles associated with posttraumatic stress disorder. *PNAS* 107:9470-75.
16. McGowan PO, Sasaki A, D'Alessio AC, Dymov S, Labonté B, et al. (2009) Epigenetic regulation of the glucocorticoid receptor in human brain associates with childhood abuse. *Nat Neurosci* 12:342-8.
17. Beach SRH, Brody GH, Todorov AA, Gunter TD, Philibert RA. (2011) Methylation at 5HTT mediates the impact of child sex abuse on women's antisocial behavior: an examination of the Iowa Adoptee sample. *Psychosom Med* 73:83-87.
18. McQuade R, Young AHY. (2000) Future therapeutic targets in mood disorders: the glucocorticoid receptor. *Br J Psychiatry* 177:390-5.
19. Yehuda R, Seckl J. (2011) Mini-review: Stress-related psychiatric disorders with low cortisol levels: a metabolic hypothesis. *Endocrinology* 152:4496-503.
20. Tyrka AR, Price LH, Marsit C, Walters OC, Carpenter LL. (2012) Childhood adversity and epigenetic modulation of the leukocyte glucocorticoid receptor: preliminary findings in healthy adults. *PLoS ONE* 7:e30148.

- 1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
21. Chen E, Miller GE, Kobor MS, Cole SW. (2011) Maternal warmth buffers the effects of low early-life socioeconomic status on pro-inflammatory signaling in adulthood. *Mol Psychiatry* 16(7): 729–737.
 22. Morozink JA, Friedman EM, Coe CL, Ryff CD. (2010) Socioeconomic and psychosocial predictors of interleukin-6 in the MIDUS national sample. *Health Psychol.* 29(6): 626–635.
 23. Szyf M, McGowan P, Meaney MJ. (2008) The social environment and the epigenome. *Environment Molecular Mutagenesis* 49:46-60.
 24. McGowan PO, Kato T. (2008) Epigenetics in mood disorders. *Environ Health Prev Med* 13:16-24.
 25. Day SM, Reeve JL, Pedersen B, Farris DM, Myers DD, et al. (2005) Macrovascular thrombosis is driven by tissue factor derived primarily from the blood vessel wall. *Blood* 105:192-8.
 26. Konigsberg W, Kirchhofer D, Riederer MA, Nemerson Y. (2001) The TF:VIIa complex: clinical significance, structure-function relationships and its role in signaling and metastasis. *Thromb Haemost* 86:757-71.
 27. Lu P, Liu J, Pang X. (2015) Pravastatin inhibits fibrinogen- and FDP-induced inflammatory response via reducing the production of IL-6, TNF- α and iNOS in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Mol Med Rep* 12:6145-51.
 28. Curtiss LK, Tobias PS. (2009) Emerging role of Toll-like receptors in atherosclerosis. *J Lipid Res* 50(S):S340-S345.
 29. Cole JE, Georgiou E, Monaco C. (2010) The expression and functions of Toll-like receptors in atherosclerosis. *Mediators Inflamm* 2010:393946.
 30. de Faria Amormino SA, Arao TC, Saraiva AM, Gomez RS, Dutra WO, da Costa JE, Silva JFC, Moreira PR. (2013) Hypermethylation and low transcription of TLR2 gene in chronic periodontitis. *Human Immunol* 74:1231-123.

- 1
2
3 31. Rajan P, Kelsey KT, Schwartz JD, Bellinger DC, Weuve J, et al. (2007) Lead burden and
4 psychiatric symptoms and the modifying influence of the delta-aminolevulinic acid dehydratase
5 (ALAD) polymorphism: the VA Normative Aging Study. *Am J Epidemiol* 166:1400-08.
6
7
8
9
10 32. Alexeeff SE, Baccarelli AA, Halonen J, Coull BA, Wright RO, Tarantini L, Bollati V, Sparrow
11 D, Vokonas P, Schwartz J. (2013) Association between blood pressure and DNA methylation of
12 retrotransposons and pro-inflammatory genes. *Int J Epidemiol* 42:270-80.
13
14
15
16
17 33. Rodondi N, Marques-Vidal P, Butler J, Sutton-Tyrrell K, Cornuz J, et al. (2010) Markers of
18 atherosclerosis and inflammation for prediction of coronary heart disease. *Am J Epidemiol*
19 171:540-9.
20
21
22
23
24 34. Shai I, Pischon T, Hu FB, Ascherio A, Rifai N, Rimm EB. (2006) Soluble intercellular adhesion
25 molecules, soluble vascular cell adhesion molecules, and risk of coronary heart disease. *Obesity*
26 14:2099-2106.
27
28
29
30
31 35. Miller G, Chen E. (2007) Unfavorable socioeconomic conditions in early life presage
32 expression of proinflammatory phenotype in adolescence. *Psychosom Med* 69:402-9.
33
34
35
36 36. Derogatis LR, Melisaratos N. (1983) The Brief Symptom Inventory: an introductory report.
37 *Psychol Med* 13:595-605.
38
39
40
41 37. Liang, J. (1984) Dimensions of the life satisfaction index A: a structural formulation. *Journal of*
42 *Gerontology* 39:613–622.
43
44
45 38. Lam LL, Emberly E, Fraser HB, Neumann SM, Chen E, Miller GE, Kobor MS. (2012) Factors
46 underlying variable DNA methylation in a human community cohort. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*
47 109 Suppl 2:17253-60.
48
49
50
51
52 39. Rampersaud GC, Kauwell GP, Hutson AD, Cerda JJ, Bailey LB. (2000) Genomic DNA
53 methylation decreases in response to moderate folate depletion in elderly women. *Am J Clin*
54 *Nutr* 72:998-1003.
55
56
57
58
59
60

- 1
2
3 40. Unternaehrer E, Luers P, Mill J, Dempster E, Meyer AH, Staehli S, Lieb R, Hellhammer DH,
4
5 Meinlschmidt G. (2012) Dynamic changes in DNA methylation of stress-associated genes
6
7 (OXTR, BDNF) after acute psychosocial stress. *Transl Psychiatry* 2:e150.
8
9
10 41. Baccarelli, A, Wright RO, Bollati V, Tarantini L, Litonjua AA, Suh HH, Zanobetti A, Sparrow
11
12 D, Vokonas PS, Schwartz J. (2009) Rapid DNA methylation changes after exposure to traffic
13
14 particles. *Am J Resp Critical Care Med* 179:572-578.
15
16
17 42. Jacobsen SC, Brøns C, Bork-Jensen J, Ribel-Madsen R, Yang B, Lara E, Hall E, Calvanese V,
18
19 Nilsson E, Jørgensen SW, Mandrup S, Ling C, Fernandez AF, Fraga MF, Poulsen P, Vaag A.
20
21 (2012) Effects of short-term high-fat overfeeding on genome-wide DNA methylation in the
22
23 skeletal muscle of healthy young men. *Diabetologia* 55:3341-3349.
24
25
26 43. Zhong J, Colicino E, Lin X, Mehta A, Kloog I, Zanobetti A, Byun HM, Bind MA, Cantone L,
27
28 Prada D, Tarantini L, Trevisi L, Sparrow D, Vokonas P, Schwartz J, Baccarelli AA. (2015)
29
30 Cardiac autonomic dysfunction: particulate air pollution effects are modulated by epigenetic
31
32 immunoregulation of *Toll-like Receptor 2* and dietary flavonoid intake. *J Am Heart Assoc*
33
34 4:e001423.
35
36
37 44. Hill AB. (1965) The environment and disease: Association or causation? *Proceed Roy Soc*
38
39 *Medicine – London*. 58:295-300.
40
41
42 45. Arnson Y, Shoenfeld Y, Amital H. (2010) Effects of tobacco smoke on immunity, inflammation
43
44 and autoimmunity. *J Autoimmun* 34:J258-65.
45
46
47 46. Hwang SJ, Ballantyne CM, Sharrett AR, Smith LC, Davis CE, et al. (1997) Circulating
48
49 adhesion molecules VCAM-1, ICAM-1 and E-selectin in carotid atherosclerosis and incident
50
51 coronary heart disease cases: the Atherosclerosis Risk In Communities (ARIC) study.
52
53 *Circulation* 96:4219-25.
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

- 1
2
3 47. Malik I, Danesh J, Whincup P, Bhatia V, Papacosta O, et al. (2001) Soluble adhesion molecules
4 and prediction of coronary heart disease: a prospective study and meta-analysis. *Lancet*
5 358(9286):971-6.
6
7
8
9
10 48. Ridker PM. (2001) Role of inflammatory biomarkers in prediction of coronary heart disease.
11 *Lancet* 358:946-8.
12
13
14 49. Baccarelli A, Tarantini L, Wright RO, Bollati V, Litonjua AA, et al. (2010) Repetitive element
15 DNA methylation and circulation endothelial and inflammation markers in the VA Normative
16 Aging Study. *Epigenetics* 5:222-8.
17
18
19
20 50. Doran AC1, Meller N, McNamara CA. (2008) Role of smooth muscle cells in the initiation and
21 early progression of atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 28(5):812-9.
22
23
24
25 51. Blankenberg S, Barbaux S, Tiret L. (2003) Adhesion molecules and atherosclerosis.
26 *Atherosclerosis* 170(2):191-203.
27
28
29
30 52. Bielinski SJ, Pankow JS, Foster CL, Miller MB, Hopkins PN, et al. (2008) Circulating soluble
31 ICAM-1 levels shows linkage to ICAM gene cluster region on chromosome 19: the NHLBI
32 Family Heart Study follow-up examination. *Atherosclerosis* 199:172-8.
33
34
35
36 53. Rahman A, Fazal F. (2009) Hug tightly and say goodbye: role of endothelial ICAM-1 in
37 leukocyte transmigration. *Antioxidants Redox Signaling* 11:823-39.
38
39
40
41 54. Lawson C, Wolf S. (2009) ICAM-1 signaling in endothelial cells. *Pharmacol Reports* 61:22–32.
42
43
44
45 55. Wittchen ES. (2009) Endothelial signaling in paracellular and transcellular leukocyte
46 transmigration. *Front Biosci* 14:2522–45.
47
48
49
50 56. Aplin AE, Howe AK, and Juliano RL. (1999) Cell adhesion molecules, signal transduction and
51 cell growth. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 11:737–744.
52
53
54
55 57. Hubbard AK, Rothlein R. (2000) Intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) expression and
56 cell signaling cascades. *Free Radic Biol Med* 28:1379–1386.
57
58
59
60

- 1
2
3 58. Wang Q, Doerschuk CM. (2002) The signaling pathways induced by neutrophil-endothelial cell
4 adhesion. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 4:39–47.
5
6
7 59. Valinluck V, Sowers LC. (2007) Inflammation-mediated cytosine damage: A mechanistic link
8 between inflammation and the epigenetic alterations in human cancers. *Cancer Res*
9 67(12):5583-5586.
10
11
12 60. Cohen S. (2005) Keynote Presentation at the Eight International Congress of Behavioral
13 Medicine: the Pittsburgh common cold studies: psychosocial predictors of susceptibility to
14 respiratory infectious illness. *Int J Behav Med* 12(3):123-31.
15
16
17 61. Alt SR, Turner JD, Klok MD, Meijer OC, Lakke EAJF, et al. (2010) Differential expression of
18 glucocorticoid receptor transcripts in major depressive disorder is not epigenetically
19 programmed. *Psychoneuroendocrinol* 35:544-56.
20
21
22 62. Weaver ICG. (2007) Epigenetic programming by maternal behavior and pharmacological
23 intervention. *Epigenetics* 2:22-8.
24
25
26 63. Dong Y, Peng CYJ. (2013) Principled missing data methods for researchers. SpringerPlus
27 2:222.
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

Table 1. Descriptive statistics (mean values with ranges in parentheses; percentages) for samples analyzed with respective characteristic and ICAM-1 promoter methylation (n ranging from 538 to 577 men)

Mean age in yrs at first visit in 1999	72.5 (56-100)
% ≤High school	34.1
% White	98.0
% with CHD/stroke/diabetes before 1999	33.3
Smoking in pack-years	21.8 (0-131)
Anxiety	0.20 (0-2.83)
Depression	0.20 (0-3.33)
Hostility	0.21 (0-3.00)
Happiness	7.39 (1-9)
Life satisfaction	7.88 (0-11)
% Basophils	0.56 (0-2)
% Eosinophils	3.24 (0-22)
% Lymphocytes	26.0 (5-90)
% Monocytes	8.76 (0-17)
% Neutrophils	61.65 (3-85)
Plasma folate (ng/mL)	17.41 (3.3-99.3)
DNA methylation in gene promoter regions (%)	
<i>TLR-2</i>	3.1 (0-8.9)
<i>F3</i>	2.3 (0-14.8)
<i>NR3C1</i>	47.0 (14.7-72.8)

<i>ICAM-1</i>	4.4 (1.7-16.1)
<i>IFN-γ</i>	84.4 (30.9-95.7)
<i>IL-6</i>	43.7 (10.3-86.6)
<i>iNOS</i>	69.7 (24.5-87.2)

For peer review only

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49

Table 2. Pearson correlation coefficients between psychological factors.^a

	Anxiety	Depression	Hostility	Happiness	Life satisfaction
Anxiety	1.00	0.76 (n=611)	0.67 (n=611)	-0.32 (n=612)	-0.31 (n=578)
Depression		1.00	0.63 (n=609)	-0.46 (n=611)	-0.42 (n=577)
Hostility			1.00	-0.30 (n=610)	-0.28 (n=577)
Happiness				1.00	0.58 (n=598)
Life satisfaction					1.00

^aFor men with observations for the pair of psychological factors.
P<0.01 for all correlations.

Table 3. Coefficient estimates (95% CI) for multivariate associations between psychological factors and average methylation in gene promoter regions, from repeated measures models.

	Gene						
	<i>TLR-2</i>	<i>F3</i>	<i>NR3C1</i>	<i>ICAM-1</i>	<i>IFN-γ</i>	<i>IL-6</i>	<i>iNOS</i>
Anxiety	0.07 (-0.17, 0.32) n=558; 833 obs	0.17 (-0.05, 0.40) n=607; 909 obs	-0.42 (-1.54, 0.71) n=581; 924 obs	0.34 ^b (-0.03, 0.72) n=548; 831 obs	0.50 (-0.41, 1.40) n=640; 1069 obs	0.36 (-1.75, 2.47) n=636; 1077 obs	-0.82 (-2.28, 0.64) n=499; 729 obs
Depression	0.08 (-0.15, 0.30) n=554; 825 obs	0.34 ^a (0.14, 0.55) n=605; 904 obs	0.22 (-0.76, 1.21) n=579; 919 obs	0.38 ^a (0.04, 0.72) n=546; 826 obs	0.21 (-0.62, 1.04) n=638; 1064 obs	-0.12 (-2.07, 1.83) n=634; 1071 obs	-0.60 (-1.93, 0.73) n=496; 723 obs
Hostility	0.22 ^b (-0.04, 0.49) n=554, 828 obs	0.18 (-0.06, 0.42) n=603; 905 obs	0.20 (-1.00, 1.40) n=578; 921 obs	0.20 (-0.19, 0.60) n=545; 828 obs	0.39 (-0.56, 1.34) n=636; 1066 obs	-0.54 (-2.74, 1.66) n=632; 1074 obs	-0.34 (-1.82, 1.14) n=497; 727 obs
Happiness	-0.02 (-0.09, 0.05) n=582; 867 obs	-0.10 ^a (-0.16, -0.04) n=636; 952 obs	0.12 (-0.17, 0.41) n=608; 967 obs	-0.10 ^a (-0.22, -0.003) n=577; 871 obs	0.04 (-0.20, 0.28) n=669; 1117 obs	-0.38 (-0.95, 0.19) n=666; 1128 obs	0.07 (-0.33, 0.47) n=523; 760 obs
Life Satisfaction	-0.05 ^a (-0.09, -0.01) n=539; 808 obs	-0.06 ^a (-0.10, -0.03) n=590; 885 obs	0.09 (-0.09, 0.26) n=563; 895 obs	-0.02 (-0.08, 0.04) n=538; 813 obs	-0.04 (-0.19, 0.10) n=619; 1036 obs	0.15 (-0.18, 0.49) n=615; 1045 obs	0.20 ^b (-0.02, 0.43) n=481; 698 obs

Associations between each psychological factor and average levels of methylation across CpG sites within gene promoter regions examined in separate models. All models adjusted for age, smoking status, educational attainment, history of CHD or stroke prior to 1999, history of diabetes prior to 1999, % basophils, % eosinophils, % lymphocytes, % monocytes, % neutrophils, and plasma folate.

^aP<0.05. ^bP<0.10.

Table 4. Coefficient estimates from repeated measures models for multivariate associations between categorized scale values of depression, happiness, life satisfaction and *F3* promoter methylation (n = 658 men, 988 observations).

		Coefficient Estimate	95% CI	P value
Depression	0	-	-	-
	0.01-0.4	-0.13	-0.34, 0.09	0.24
	>0.4	0.33	0.10, 0.56	0.005
				<i>P_{trend}</i> = 0.03
Happiness	1-4 (unhappy)	-	-	-
	5-7	-0.20	-0.54, 0.14	0.24
	8-9 (happy)	-0.51	-0.85, -0.18	0.003
				<i>P_{trend}</i> < .001
Life satisfaction	0-5	-	-	-
	6-8	-0.28	-0.49, -0.06	0.01
	9-11	-0.40	-0.60, -0.20	<0.001
				<i>P_{trend}</i> < .001

F3 methylation values corresponded to the average levels of methylation across CpG sites within the *F3* promoter region.

All models adjusted for age, smoking status, educational attainment, history of CHD or stroke prior to 1999, history of diabetes prior to 1999, % basophils, % eosinophils, % lymphocytes, % monocytes, % neutrophils, and plasma folate.

Table 5. Coefficient estimates from repeated measures models for multivariate associations between categorized scale values of depression and happiness and *ICAM-1* promoter methylation (n = 600 men, 906 observations)

		Coefficient Estimate	95% CI	P value
Depression	0	-	-	-
	0.01-0.4	0.19	-0.16, 0.55	0.29
	>0.4	0.30	-0.09, 0.70	0.13
				$P_{trend} = 0.09$
Happiness	1-4 (not happy)	-	-	-
	5-7	-0.21	-0.76, 0.34	0.46
	8-9 (happy)	-0.42	-0.97, 0.13	0.13
				$P_{trend} = 0.06$

ICAM-1 methylation values corresponded to the average levels of methylation across CpG sites within the *ICAM-1* promoter region.

All models adjusted for age, smoking status, educational attainment, history of CHD or stroke prior to 1999, history of diabetes prior to 1999, % basophils, % eosinophils, % lymphocytes, % monocytes, % neutrophils, and plasma folate.

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49

Supplementary Table 1. Location of the CpG position and the promoter region for each gene.*

Gene	Chromosome	Promoter		CpG Positions for measured DNA methylation				
		Start	End	Position 1	Position 2	Position 3	Position 4	Position 5
<i>TLR-2</i>	4	154824391	154824991	154824709	154824713	154824715	154824723	154824727
<i>F3</i>	1	94779671	94780502	94779947	94779950	94779956	94779958	94779974
<i>NR3C1</i>	5	142760496	142761097	142760565				
<i>ICAM-1</i>	19	10242017	10242937	10242236	10242225	10242218		
<i>IFN-γ</i>	12	66839561	66840293	66840192	66840186			
<i>IL-6</i>	7	22732791	22733685	22733847	22733841			
<i>iNOS</i>	17	23149861	23150461	23149929	23149936			

*NCBI build 36.1 was used as the reference of the human genome in this study.

Supplementary Table 2. Numbers and percentages of missing men for methylation in the promoter region for each gene, for model covariates, and respective psychological factors (n = 765 men without excluding those with missing values).

Psychological Factor	<i>TLR-2</i>	<i>F3</i>	<i>NR3C1</i>	<i>ICAM-1</i>	<i>IFN-γ</i>	<i>IL-6</i>	<i>iNOS</i>
Anxiety	Missing methylation: n=123; 16.1%	Missing methylation: n=74; 9.7%	Missing methylation: n=100; 13.1%	Missing methylation: n=133; 17.4%	Missing methylation: n=41; 5.4%	Missing methylation: n=45; 5.9%	Missing methylation: n=182; 23.8%
	Missing covariates: n=26 (3.4%)	Missing covariates: n=26 (3.4%)	Missing covariates: n=26 (3.4%)	Missing covariates: n=26 (3.4%)	Missing covariates: n=26 (3.4%)	Missing covariates: n=26 (3.4%)	Missing covariates: n=26 (3.4%)
	Missing anxiety: n=58 (7.6%)	Missing anxiety: n=58 (7.6%)	Missing anxiety: n=58 (7.6%)	Missing anxiety: n=58 (7.6%)	Missing anxiety: n=58 (7.6%)	Missing anxiety: n=58 (7.6%)	Missing anxiety: n=58 (7.6%)
Depression	Missing methylation: n=125; 16.3%	Missing methylation: n=74; 9.7%	Missing methylation: n=100; 13.1%	Missing methylation: n=133; 17.4%	Missing methylation: n=41; 5.4%	Missing methylation: n=45; 5.9%	Missing methylation: n=183; 23.9%
	Missing covariates: n=27 (3.5%)	Missing covariates: n=27 (3.5%)	Missing covariates: n=27 (3.5%)	Missing covariates: n=27 (3.5%)	Missing covariates: n=27 (3.5%)	Missing covariates: n=27 (3.5%)	Missing covariates: n=27 (3.5%)
	Missing depression: n=59 (7.7%)	Missing depression: n=59 (7.7%)	Missing depression: n=59 (7.7%)	Missing depression: n=59 (7.7%)	Missing depression: n=59 (7.7%)	Missing depression: n=59 (7.7%)	Missing depression: n=59 (7.7%)
Hostility	Missing methylation: n=123; 16.1%	Missing methylation: n=74; 9.7%	Missing methylation: n=99; 12.9%	Missing methylation: n=132; 17.3%	Missing methylation: n=41; 5.4%	Missing methylation: n=45; 5.9%	Missing methylation: n=180; 23.5%

	Missing covariates: n=27 (3.5%)	Missing covariates: n=27 (3.5%)	Missing covariates: n=27 (3.5%)	Missing covariates: n=27 (3.5%)	Missing covariates: n=27 (3.5%)	Missing covariates: n=27 (3.5%)	Missing covariates: n=27 (3.5%)
	Missing hostility: n=61 (8.0%)	Missing hostility: n=61 (8.0%)	Missing hostility: n=61 (8.0%)	Missing hostility: n=61 (8.0%)	Missing hostility: n=61 (8.0%)	Missing hostility: n=61 (8.0%)	Missing hostility: n=61 (8.0%)
Happiness	Missing methylation: n=128; 16.7%	Missing methylation: n=74; 9.7%	Missing methylation: n=102; 13.3%	Missing methylation: n=133; 17.4%	Missing methylation: n=41; 5.4%	Missing methylation: n=44; 5.8%	Missing methylation: n=187; 24.4%
	Missing covariates: n=27 (3.5%)	Missing covariates: n=27 (3.5%)	Missing covariates: n=27 (3.5%)	Missing covariates: n=27 (3.5%)	Missing covariates: n=27 (3.5%)	Missing covariates: n=27 (3.5%)	Missing covariates: n=27 (3.5%)
	Missing happiness: n=28 (3.7%)	Missing happiness: n=28 (3.7%)	Missing happiness: n=28 (3.7%)	Missing happiness: n=28 (3.7%)	Missing happiness: n=28 (3.7%)	Missing happiness: n=28 (3.7%)	Missing happiness: n=28 (3.7%)
Life satisfaction	Missing methylation: n=119; 15.6%	Missing methylation: n=68; 8.9%	Missing methylation: n=95; 12.4%	Missing methylation: n=120; 15.7%	Missing methylation: n=39; 5.1%	Missing methylation: n=43; 5.6%	Missing methylation: n=177; 23.1%
	Missing covariates: n=24 (3.1%)	Missing covariates: n=24 (3.1%)	Missing covariates: n=24 (3.1%)	Missing covariates: n=24 (3.1%)	Missing covariates: n=24 (3.1%)	Missing covariates: n=24 (3.1%)	Missing covariates: n=24 (3.1%)
	Missing life satisfaction: n=83 (10.8%)	Missing life satisfaction: n=83 (10.8%)	Missing life satisfaction: n=83 (10.8%)	Missing life satisfaction: n=83 (10.8%)	Missing life satisfaction: n=83 (10.8%)	Missing life satisfaction: n=83 (10.8%)	Missing life satisfaction: n=83 (10.8%)

STROBE Statement—checklist of items that should be included in reports of observational studies

	Item No	Recommendation	
Title and abstract	1	(a) Indicate the study's design with a commonly used term in the title or the abstract (b) Provide in the abstract an informative and balanced summary of what was done and what was found	<p>Comment [DK1]: Page 1 (Abstract)</p> <p>Comment [DK2]: Page 1 (Abstract)</p>
Introduction			
Background/rationale	2	Explain the scientific background and rationale for the investigation being reported	Comment [DK3]: Pages 3 and 4
Objectives	3	State specific objectives, including any prespecified hypotheses	Comment [DK4]: Bottom of page 4
Methods			
Study design	4	Present key elements of study design early in the paper	Comment [DK5]: Top of page 5
Setting	5	Describe the setting, locations, and relevant dates, including periods of recruitment, exposure, follow-up, and data collection	Comment [DK6]: Page 5
Participants	6	(a) <i>Cohort study</i> —Give the eligibility criteria, and the sources and methods of selection of participants. Describe methods of follow-up <i>Case-control study</i> —Give the eligibility criteria, and the sources and methods of case ascertainment and control selection. Give the rationale for the choice of cases and controls <i>Cross-sectional study</i> —Give the eligibility criteria, and the sources and methods of selection of participants (b) <i>Cohort study</i> —For matched studies, give matching criteria and number of exposed and unexposed <i>Case-control study</i> —For matched studies, give matching criteria and the number of controls per case	<p>Comment [DK7]: Page 5</p>
Variables	7	Clearly define all outcomes, exposures, predictors, potential confounders, and effect modifiers. Give diagnostic criteria, if applicable	Comment [DK8]: Pages 5-8
Data sources/measurement	8*	For each variable of interest, give sources of data and details of methods of assessment (measurement). Describe comparability of assessment methods if there is more than one group	Comment [DK9]: Pages 5-8
Bias	9	Describe any efforts to address potential sources of bias	Comment [DK10]: Bottom of page 7, top of page 8
Study size	10	Explain how the study size was arrived at	Comment [DK11]: Page 10 and Supplementary Table 2
Quantitative variables	11	Explain how quantitative variables were handled in the analyses. If applicable, describe which groupings were chosen and why	Comment [DK12]: Pages 5-8
Statistical methods	12	(a) Describe all statistical methods, including those used to control for confounding (b) Describe any methods used to examine subgroups and interactions (c) Explain how missing data were addressed (d) <i>Cohort study</i> —If applicable, explain how loss to follow-up was addressed <i>Case-control study</i> —If applicable, explain how matching of cases and controls was addressed <i>Cross-sectional study</i> —If applicable, describe analytical methods taking account of sampling strategy (e) Describe any sensitivity analyses	<p>Comment [DK13]: Pages 8-9</p> <p>Comment [DK14]: Tests for analyses not performed.</p> <p>Comment [DK15]: Top of page 10</p> <p>Comment [DK16]: Not addressed but attrition noted as study limitation on page 16.</p>
Continued on next page			
Comment [DK17]: Page 9 - NEW SENTENCE HAS BEEN ADDED HERE.			

Results

Participants	13*	(a) Report numbers of individuals at each stage of study—eg numbers potentially eligible, examined for eligibility, confirmed eligible, included in the study, completing follow-up, and analysed (b) Give reasons for non-participation at each stage (c) Consider use of a flow diagram
Descriptive data	14*	(a) Give characteristics of study participants (eg demographic, clinical, social) and information on exposures and potential confounders (b) Indicate number of participants with missing data for each variable of interest (c) <i>Cohort study</i> —Summarise follow-up time (eg, average and total amount)
Outcome data	15*	<i>Cohort study</i> —Report numbers of outcome events or summary measures over time <i>Case-control study</i> —Report numbers in each exposure category, or summary measures of exposure <i>Cross-sectional study</i> —Report numbers of outcome events or summary measures
Main results	16	(a) Give unadjusted estimates and, if applicable, confounder-adjusted estimates and their precision (eg, 95% confidence interval). Make clear which confounders were adjusted for and why they were included (b) Report category boundaries when continuous variables were categorized (c) If relevant, consider translating estimates of relative risk into absolute risk for a meaningful time period
Other analyses	17	Report other analyses done—eg analyses of subgroups and interactions, and sensitivity analyses
Discussion		
Key results	18	Summarise key results with reference to study objectives
Limitations	19	Discuss limitations of the study, taking into account sources of potential bias or imprecision. Discuss both direction and magnitude of any potential bias
Interpretation	20	Give a cautious overall interpretation of results considering objectives, limitations, multiplicity of analyses, results from similar studies, and other relevant evidence
Generalisability	21	Discuss the generalisability (external validity) of the study results
Other information		
Funding	22	Give the source of funding and the role of the funders for the present study and, if applicable, for the original study on which the present article is based

Comment [DK18]: Further details of participation/enrollment of original study participants are given in citation at top of page 5.

Comment [DK19]: Further details of participation/enrollment of original study participants are given in citation at top of page 5.

Comment [DK20]: Page 10 and Table 1

Comment [DK21]: Page 10 and Supplemental Table 2

Comment [DK22]: Follow up from 1999 to 2006 noted on page 5.

Comment [DK23]: Page 10 (# events same as sample sizes noted on this page as outcomes were analyzed as continuous)

Comment [DK24]: Page 8, 10-12, Tables 3-5 (pages 29-31)

Comment [DK25]: Top of page 12

Comment [DK26]: Bottom of page 12, top of page 13

Comment [DK27]: Bottom of page 15, all of page 16

Comment [DK28]: Pages 12-16

Comment [DK29]: Bottom of page 16

Comment [DK30]: Page 18

*Give information separately for cases and controls in case-control studies and, if applicable, for exposed and unexposed groups in cohort and cross-sectional studies.

Note: An Explanation and Elaboration article discusses each checklist item and gives methodological background and published examples of transparent reporting. The STROBE checklist is best used in conjunction with this article (freely available on the Web sites of PLoS Medicine at <http://www.plosmedicine.org/>, Annals of Internal Medicine at <http://www.annals.org/>, and Epidemiology at <http://www.epidem.com/>). Information on the STROBE Initiative is available at www.strobe-statement.org.